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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
As management of the County of Norfolk, Massachusetts (the County), we offer readers of the
County’s financial statements this narrative overview and analysis of the financial activities of the
County for the year ended June 30, 2020.
Financial Highlights:


The liabilities and deferred inflows of resources exceeded the assets and deferred outflows of
resources of the County at the close of the most recent fiscal year by $39.8 million (deficit net
position). The County's net investment in capital assets and restricted net position was $23.3
million and $5.6 million respectively. The County reported a deficit unrestricted net position
balance of $68.7 million at year end, primarily due to reporting of net Other Postemployment
Benefits (OPEB) obligation and net pension liability.



The total cost of all County services for fiscal year 2020 was $41.1 million.



As of the end of the current fiscal year, unassigned fund balance for the general fund was
approximately $5.5 million. This included the balance maintained in the County’s
stabilization fund of approximately $3.8 million.

Overview of the Financial Statements:
This discussion and analysis is intended to serve as an introduction to the County’s basic financial
statements. The County’s financial statements are comprised of the following components: 1)
government-wide financial statements, 2) fund financial statements, and 3) notes to financial
statements. Required supplementary information as mandated by the Government Accounting
Standards Board (GASB) is also presented to provide additional analysis.
Government-Wide Financial Statements: The government-wide financial statements are
designed to provide readers with a broad overview of the County’s finances, in a manner similar
to a private-sector business.
The statement of net position presents information on all of the County’s assets plus deferred
outflows of resources, less liabilities, less deferred inflows of resources resulting in the aggregate
net position of the County. Over time increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful
indicator of whether the financial position of the County is improving or deteriorating.
The statement of activities presents information showing how the government's net position
changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported as soon as the
underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows.
Both of the government-wide financial statements distinguish functions of the County that are
principally supported by taxes and fees and intergovernmental revenues (governmental activities)
from other functions that are intended to recover all or a significant portion of their costs through
user fees and charges (business-type activities). The governmental activities of the County
include general county administrative services, education, courthouse maintenance and
recreation. The County currently does not maintain any business-type activities.
Fund financial statements: A fund is a grouping of related accounts that is used to maintain
control over resources that have been segregated for specific activities or objectives. The County,
like other state and local governments, uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate
compliance with finance-related legal requirements. All of the funds of the County can be divided
into three categories: governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds.
See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Governmental funds: Governmental funds are used to account for essentially the same functions
reported as governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements. However, unlike
the government-wide financial statements, governmental fund financial statements focus on nearterm inflows and outflows of spendable resources, as well as on balances of spendable resources
available at the end of the fiscal year. Such information may be useful in evaluating a
government's near-term financing requirements.
Because the focus of governmental funds is narrower than that of the government-wide financial
statements, it is useful to compare the information presented for governmental funds with similar
information presented for governmental activities in the government-wide financial statements.
By doing so, readers may better understand the long-term impact of the government's near-term
financing decisions. Both the governmental fund balance sheet and the governmental fund
statement of revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances provide a reconciliation to
facilitate this comparison between governmental funds and governmental activities.
The County maintains several individual governmental funds. Information is presented separately
in the governmental fund balance sheet and in the governmental fund statement of revenues,
expenditures, and changes in fund balances for the General Fund, Agricultural High School,
Agricultural High School Building Projects, County Capital Projects, and the Registry Deeds
Excise Fund, which the County has considered to be major funds. The remaining funds are
combined in the aggregate in Other Governmental funds in this presentation. Individual fund data
for each of these nonmajor governmental funds is available from the County Treasurer’s office.
The basic governmental fund financial statements can be found in the accompanying pages of this
report.
Proprietary funds: Proprietary funds focus on the determination of operating income, changes in
net position, and cash flows. These funds measure economic resources using the full accrual basis
of accounting.
Enterprise funds are used to report the same functions presented as business-type activities in the
government-wide financial statements. The County currently does not maintain any enterprise
funds.
The County maintains an internal service fund for a previously self-insured health plan. The
Internal Service Fund is used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by an
activity to other departments, funds, or component units of the County on a cost-reimbursement
basis. Due to the fact the Internal Service Fund accounted only for County employees and
retirees; the internal service fund is considered a governmental activity fund of the County. The
County has elected to continue to report this fund separately until final dissolution of the
resources. See additional information related to this fund in the notes to the financial statements.
The basic proprietary fund financial statements can be found in the accompanying pages of this
report.
Fiduciary funds: Fiduciary funds are used to report resources held in a trustee or agency
capacity for others and therefore not available to support County programs. The reporting focus is
on net position and the change in net position.
The County’s fiduciary funds are private purpose trust funds, other postemployment benefit
(OPEB) trust fund and agency amounts. The private purpose trust funds and other
postemployment benefits trust fund account for resources legally held in trust for the benefit of
persons and organizations other than the County. Since these funds cannot be used for providing
County services, they are excluded from the County’s government-wide financial statements.
See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Agency amounts represents funds owed to parties other than the County, including federal and
state agencies and student organizations. Agency amounts are custodial in nature and do not
involve measurement of results of operations.
The basic fiduciary fund financial statements can be found in the accompanying pages of this
report.
Notes to the financial statements: The notes provide additional information that is essential to a
full understanding of the data provided in the government-wide and fund financial statements.
The notes to the financial statements follow the basic financial statements described above.
Required supplementary information: Government Accounting Standards require the
presentation of certain budgetary comparison schedules and related notes, Additionally, ten fiscal
year schedule of information related to the County’s Other Postemployment Benefit Plan (OPEB)
and the ten fiscal year schedule of information related to the County’s participation in cost
sharing pension plans and notes are presented following the basic financial statements and notes
as required.
Government-Wide Financial Analysis
As noted earlier, net position may serve over time as a useful indicator of a government's
financial position. In the case of the County of Norfolk, liabilities and deferred inflows of
resources assets and deferred outflows exceeded by $39.8 million (deficit net position) for the
aggregate governmental activities at the close of the most recent fiscal year. The following table
demonstrates the net position of the County. Certain beginning balances for fiscal year 2020 have
been restated for prior period adjustments. These have been detailed in Note 17 in the
accompanying notes to the financial statements. The prior year amounts within the following
table have not been adjusted for the effects of these prior period adjustments.
FY2020
Governmental
Activities
$ 17,439,935
36,132,098
53,572,033

Current assets
Capital assets
Total assets
Deferred outflows of resources
Current liabilities
Long-term liabilities
Total liabilities
Deferred inflows of resources
Net position:
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

FY2019
Governmental
Activities
$ 13,020,547
36,919,891
49,940,438

18,207,939

14,062,787

2,885,955
102,490,243
105,376,198

3,284,724
92,512,194
95,796,918

6,190,485

3,243,760

23,271,502
5,646,277
(68,704,490)
$ (39,786,711)

23,568,920
6,257,615
(64,863,988)
$ (35,037,453)

Current assets consisted solely of $17.4 million of cash, cash equivalents and investments. The
increase for fiscal year 2020 was primarily due to the issuance of long-term bonds and premiums
of approximately $3.7 million received which remained unexpended as of year-end.
Current liabilities of $2.9 million consist of approximately $1.9 million of accounts payable and
accrued payroll and benefits, and $319,000 in accrued interest. Additionally, current liabilities
also include approximately $660,000 of long-term liabilities, the portion of which is due in fiscal
year 2021.
See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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Long-term liabilities of $102.5 million, include $15.5 million in general obligation bonds,
$74,000 in capital leases payable, $884,000 in estimated compensated absences, $55.4 million in
net other postemployment (OPEB) obligations and $30.7 million in net pension liability. The
most significant change in these amounts represent the increase in the actuarial determined net
OPEB liability, which increased approximately $11.0 million for the fiscal year.
The County’s net investment in capital assets (e.g., land, buildings, machinery, and equipment)
less any related debt and deferred outflows or inflows of resources associated with the acquisition
of those assets was $23.2 million. The County uses these capital assets to provide services to
citizens; consequently, these assets are not available for future spending. Although the County
investment in its capital assets is reported net of related debt, it should be noted that the resources
needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets themselves
cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities.
An additional portion of the County’s total net position, $5.6 million represents resources that are
subject to restrictions placed on how they may be used. The remaining balance of the County's
total net position, which may be used to meet the County’s ongoing obligations to citizens and
creditors, is classified as unrestricted and was in a deficit of approximately $68.7 million.
Governmental activities decreased the County’s net position by approximately $6.9 million
during fiscal year 2020. A summary of revenues and major functional expenditures is presented
in the following table.

Revenues:
Program revenues:
Charges for services
Operating grants/contributions
Capital grants/contributions
General revenues:
Deeds excise
County tax
Courthouse rental income
Departmental & other
Total revenues
Expenses:
Maintenance
Registry of Deeds
Commissioner/IT
County Treasurer
Engineering
Agricultural High School
Wollaston Recreational Facility
Employee benefits and other costs
Sheriff department unfunded liability
Regional services and other
Interest and issuance
Total expenses
Change net position

FY2020
Governmental
Activities

FY2019
Governmental
Activities

$ 11,768,388
6,904,525

$ 11,193,624
6,528,380

4,183,764
6,460,264
4,172,209
675,903
34,165,053

4,254,335
6,302,696
4,111,346
559,074
32,949,455

3,253,354
5,863,170
1,430,170
467,708
509,858
11,241,049
881,923
14,911,613
1,865,045
90,109
593,209
41,107,208
$ (6,942,155)

3,477,892
4,164,772
1,147,380
542,066
502,870
11,988,235
1,014,601
12,071,534
1,809,756
81,796
392,620
37,193,522
$ (4,244,067)

See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis
June 30, 2020
(unaudited)
Key elements of the current year changes are as follows:
Revenues:
.

County taxes of $6.5 million and courthouse rental income of $4.2 million represented 18.9%
and 12.2% of total governmental activities revenue, respectively. This is consistent with the
previous year.

.

Charges for services of $11.8 million, or 34.4%, of total governmental activities revenue
consisted primarily of $3.4 million of registry of deeds related fees, $7.2 million of tuitions
and receipts at the Agricultural High School and $1.1 million of fees from the Wollaston
Recreational Facility.

.

Operating grants and contributions totaled $6.9 million or 20.2% of total governmental
activities revenue. Amounts consisted primarily of $2.1 million related to state, federal and
other contributions for educational related activities, $2.2 million for teachers’ retirement
benefits and $250,000 from surcharges for registry technology funds. The County recognized
$1.9 million of additional state contributions (from deeds excise receipts) pursuant to
legislation passed to fund previous county sheriff department pension liabilities (unfunded
liability).

Expenses:
.

Expenditures relating to employee benefits and other costs of approximately $14.9 million
accounted for 36.3% of total governmental activities. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts’
revenue and expense associated with proportionate share of the teachers’ retirement was
approximately $2.4 million, an increase of $598,000 over the prior year. Additionally,
employee benefits and other costs increased approximately $6.8 million from fund basis
expenditures due to changes in other postemployment benefit and pension liabilities.

.

Expenditures relating to the Agricultural High School of $11.2 million represented 27.3% of
total governmental activities.

Financial Analysis of the Government's Funds
As noted earlier, the County uses fund accounting to ensure and demonstrate compliance with
finance-related legal requirements.
Governmental funds - The focus of the County’s governmental funds is to provide information
on near-term inflows, outflows, and balances of spendable resources. Such information is useful
in assessing the County’s financing requirements. In particular, unassigned fund balance may
serve as a useful measure of a government's net resources available for spending at the end of the
fiscal year.
As of the end of the current fiscal year, the County’s governmental funds reported combined
ending fund balances of approximately $15.5 million. Approximately $9.3 million constitutes
restricted fund balance, which has been restricted to specific uses. Approximately $750,000 of
fund balance has been assigned as of year-end. The remaining fund balance, which has not been
restricted, committed, or assigned for a specific purpose, or unassigned fund balance, was
approximately $5.5 million.
The general fund is the chief operating fund of the County. At the end of the current fiscal year,
unassigned fund balance of the general fund was $5.5 million, while total fund balance was $6.2
million. Total general fund balance increased $971,000 during fiscal year 2020.

See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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General Fund Budgetary Highlights
The County adopts an annual expenditure budget for its General Fund. A budgetary comparison
schedule has been provided for the General Fund to demonstrate compliance with the budget.
The difference between the original budget and the final budget is due primarily supplemental
appropriations and encumbrances from the prior fiscal year included in the original budget and
the encumbrances at the end of the year are not included in the final budget.
Agricultural High School Budgetary Highlights
The County adopts an annual expenditure budget for its Agricultural High School. A budgetary
comparison schedule has been provided for the Agricultural High School to demonstrate
compliance with the budget.
The difference between the original budget and the final budget is due to encumbrances from the
prior fiscal year included in the original budget and the encumbrances at the end of the year are
not included in the final budget.
Capital Asset and Debt Administration
Capital assets:
The County’s investment in capital assets for governmental activities as of June 30, 2020
amounts to $36.1 million which is net of accumulated depreciation of $20.9 million. This is
compared to $36.9 million as of June 30, 2019. The investment in capital assets includes land;
construction in progress, buildings; improvements; machinery and equipment.
The table below represents a summary of the County’s capital assets, net of accumulated
depreciation by category (in millions):

Governmental Activities
Description
Land and improvements
Construction in progress
Building and improvements
Equipment, machinery, other
Total

2020

2019

$

6.7
0.6
27.3
1.5

$

6.9
1.2
27.3
1.5

$

36.1

$

36.9

Outstanding long-term debt/bonds:
At the end of the current fiscal year, the County had total bonded debt outstanding of $13.2
million. This is compared to $16.1 million last year. During fiscal year 2020, the County issued
$3.4 million in new bonds, associated with capital renovations/improvement projects. All
outstanding debt is a general obligation of the County.
The County maintains an Aa3 bond rating with Moody’s Investor Service, as of January 17,
2020.

See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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June 30, 2020
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Economic Factors and Next Year's Budgets and Rates
 The County has increased its County tax levy by 2 ½% provided under Proposition 2 ½.
 The County’s fiscal year 2021 operating budget (all activities) was approved at $31.9 million,
compared to $31.7 million the previous year.
Requests for Information
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the County’s finances for all
those with an interest in the government's finances. Questions concerning any of the information
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to the
County of Norfolk, Attn: County Director, 614 High Street, Dedham, MA 02026.

********

See Independent Auditor’s Report.
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BASIC FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Net Position
June 30, 2020

Primary
Government
Governmental
Activities
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash, cash equivalents and investments
Total current assets

$

17,439,935
17,439,935

Noncurrent assets:
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation
Total noncurrent assets

36,132,098
36,132,098

Total assets

53,572,033

DEFERRED OUTFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows associated with pension
Deferred outflows associated with OPEB
Total deferred outflows of resources

10,464,533
7,743,406
18,207,939

LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Accrued payroll, withholdings and benefits
Accrued interest

309,942
1,597,077
319,000

Long-term liabilities:
Due within one year
Due in more than one year

659,936
102,490,243

Total liabilities

105,376,198

DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred inflows associated with pension
Deferred inflows associated with OPEB
Total deferred inflows of resources

5,311,704
878,781
6,190,485

NET POSITION
Net investment in capital assets
Restricted
Unrestricted
Total net position

23,271,502
5,646,277
(68,704,490)
$

(39,786,711)

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Functions/Programs
Primary government
Governmental activities:
Maintenance
Registry of Deeds
County Commissioners/Information Technology
County Treasurer
Engineering
Agricultural High School
Wollaston Recreational Facility
Employee benefits and other costs
County sheriff department unfunded liability (Note 14)
Regional services and other
Interest and issuance costs
Total governmental activities/primary government

Charges for
Services

Expenses

$

$

3,253,354
5,863,170
1,430,170
467,708
509,858
11,241,049
881,923
14,911,613
1,865,045
90,109
593,209

$

41,107,208

$

Program Revenues
Operating
Capital
Grants and
Grants and
Contributions
Contributions

$

$

3,409,627

250,000

7,227,503
1,131,258

2,269,097

Net (Expense)
Revenue and
Changes in
Net Position
Primary
Government
Total
Governmental
Activities

$

2,424,067
1,865,045
96,316
11,768,388

$

6,904,525

6,207
(593,209)
$

(22,434,295)

Deeds excise
County tax

4,183,764
6,460,264

Courthouse rental income
Departmental and other
Total general revenues
Change in net position
Net position, beginning of the year, restated (Note 17)
Net position, end of the year

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(3,253,354)
(2,203,543)
(1,430,170)
(467,708)
(509,858)
(1,744,449)
249,335
(12,487,546)

4,172,209
675,903
15,492,140
(6,942,155)
$

(32,844,556)
(39,786,711)

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Balance Sheet - Governmental Funds
June 30, 2020

General
Fund
ASSETS
Cash, cash equivalents and investments
Total assets
LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and other liabilities
Accrued payroll, benefits, and withholdings

Agricultural
High School
Building Projects

County
Capital Projects

Deeds Excise

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

6,794,758

$

1,554,422

$

1,880,337

$

1,498,399

$

4,441,257

$

1,205,020

$

17,374,193

$

6,794,758

$

1,554,422

$

1,880,337

$

1,498,399

$

4,441,257

$

1,205,020

$

17,374,193

$

122,425
444,935

$

187,517
1,120,642

$

$

309,942
1,565,577

Total liabilities

567,360

FUND BALANCES
Restricted
Assigned
Unassigned

749,759
5,477,639

Total fund balances
Total liabilities and fund balances

Agricultural
High School

6,794,758

$

$

1,308,159

6,227,398
$

$

$

1,875,519

246,263

1,880,337

1,498,399

4,441,257

1,205,020

9,271,276
749,759
5,477,639

246,263

1,880,337

1,498,399

4,441,257

1,205,020

15,498,674

1,554,422

$

1,880,337

$

1,498,399

$

4,441,257

$

1,205,020

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the statement of net position are different because:
Total fund balances of governmental funds
Capital assets used in governmental activities of $56,986,864 net of accumulated depreciation of $20,854,766, are not financial resources and not reported in funds.
Certain deferred outflows of resources are not included in fund basis activity.
Certain deferred inflows of resources are not included in fund basis activity.
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period are not included in funds.
Full accrual of interest reported on entity-wide basis
Internal service fund treated as governmental fund entity-wide basis
Net position of governmental activities

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

17,374,193

$

15,498,674
36,132,098
18,207,939
(6,190,485)
(103,181,679)
(319,000)
65,742
(39,786,711)

$

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Revenues, Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

General
Fund
Revenues
County taxes
Tuitions
Deeds excise
Courthouse rent
Registry fees
Intergovernmental

$

6,460,264

$

Agricultural
High School
Building Projects

County
Capital Projects

$

$

Deeds Excise
$

Other
Governmental
Funds

Total
Governmental
Funds

$

$

300,536
782,752

6,460,264
7,008,298
6,048,809
4,172,209
3,405,939
3,735,649

6,048,809

15,775
1,099,063

1,717,908
32,549,076

1,674,506

381,773

7,008,298
6,048,809
4,172,209
3,105,403
2,952,897

Departmental and other
Total revenues

1,469,186
15,207,062

Expenditures
Maintenance
Registry of Deeds
County Commissioners and Information Technology
County Treasurer
Engineering
Agricultural High School
Wollaston Recreational Facility
Employee benefits and other indirect costs
Regional services and other
County sheriff department unfunded liability (Note 14)
Debt service:
Principal
Interest and other charges
Total expenditures

232,947
10,194,142

3,014,455
3,732,527
1,614,962
474,708
503,460
10,077,714
1,152,992
2,665,157
39,838
1,865,045

103,418

Other financing sources (uses)
Premiums received on issuance of debt, net
Proceeds from the issuance of debt
Transfers in from other funds
Transfers out to other funds

182,285

281,238
50,271

425,000
381,619
14,770,956

182,285

1,674,506

(4,576,814)

(182,285)

4,374,303

108,655
2,143,500
4,908,859
(4,040,547)

Total other financing sources (uses)

(130,000)

Revenues and other financing sources, over (under)
expenditures and other financing uses

971,730

Fund balance, beginning of year, restated (Note 17)

5,255,668
$

6,227,398

4,117,587
(459,227)
705,490
$

246,263

1,155,979
(56,916)

(338,294)

52,960
(4,730,209)

(178,650)

335,554
3,415,000
9,079,406
(9,079,406)

2,122,155

1,498,399

(4,677,249)

(178,650)

3,750,554

1,939,870

1,498,399

(302,946)

(235,566)

3,412,260

(59,533)
$

460,000
387,119
32,887,370

226,899
1,271,500

4,117,587

868,312

3,014,455
5,788,806
1,614,962
474,708
503,460
10,702,696
1,152,992
6,833,018
90,109
1,865,045

442,697

3,886,623

35,000
5,500
15,103,644

Revenues over (under) expenditures

Fund balance, end of year

Agricultural
High School

1,880,337

4,744,203
$

1,498,399

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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$

4,441,257

1,440,586
$

1,205,020

12,086,414
$

15,498,674

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Reconciliation of the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances Governmental Funds to Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures,
however, the cost of those assets is allocated over their
estimated useful lives and reported as depreciation expense
in the Statement of Changes in Net Position.

$

Capital outlays during the current year
Depreciation recorded for the fiscal year
Loss of retirement/disposal of capital assets

3,412,260
1,256,930
(1,951,813)
(92,910)

Certain deferred outflows and deferred inflows of resources are
recognized on the government-wide financial statements, to be
amortized over future periods, and accordingly are not recognized in the
fund financial statements.
Deferred outflows of resources
Deferred inflows of resources

4,145,152
(2,946,725)

The issuance and repayment of long-term debt are recorded as other
financing sources and expenditures in the fund financial statements, but
have no effect on net position in the government-wide financial statements.
Principal payments on long-term debt
Proceeds from the issuance of long-term debt

460,000
(3,415,000)

The government-wide financial statements report interest on
the full accrual basis.
Net change in accrued interest expense

(206,090)

Certain liabilities are not funded through the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported in the fund
financial statements, however, these liabilities are reported in
the government-wide financial statements. The net change
in these liabilities is reflected as an expense in the Statement of
Activities. Net changes in these liabilities are as follows:
Estimated compensated absences
Worker's compensation liability
Capital lease obligations
Other postemployment benefits
Pension benefits

326,000
3,500
66,640
(11,055,514)
3,062,499

The fund financial statements report the internal service fund
as a proprietary fund-type activity which is reported separately.
The entity-wide statements report the fund as a governmental
fund netting the activity against the fund which services are
provided.
Change in net position
See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(7,084)
$

(6,942,155)

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Net Position - Proprietary Funds
June 30, 2020

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Fund
ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Total assets

65,742
65,742

NET POSITION
Net Position
Total net position

65,742
$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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65,742

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Fund Net Position - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Fund
Operating expenses
Consultant expenses

$

Total operating expenses

(8,000)
(8,000)

Operating (loss)

(8,000)

Non- operating revenues
Interest income
Total non- operating revenue

916
916

Net (loss)

(7,084)

Net position at beginning of year
Net position at end of year

$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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72,826
65,742

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Cash Flows - Proprietary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Governmental
Activities
Internal
Service
Fund
Cash flows from operating activities:
Payments to consultants
Net cash (used) by operating activities

$

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income
Net cash provided by operating activities

916
916

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Balances at beginning of year
Balances at end of year

(8,000)
(8,000)

(7,084)

$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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72,826
65,742

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2020

Other
Postemployment
Trust Fund

Private Purpose
Trust Funds

Agency
Amounts

ASSETS
Cash
Investments

$

Total assets

59,568
1,618,603

$

1,678,171

91,205

$

4,802,274

91,205

$

4,802,274

$

114,926
4,687,348

$

4,802,274

LIABILITIES
Due to students
Due to the Commonwealth
Total liabilities
NET POSITION
Restricted for other postemployment benefits
Held in trust
Total net position

1,678,171
$

1,678,171

$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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91,205
91,205

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position - Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020

Other
Postemployment
Trust Fund
Additions
Contributions
Interest/investment income
Total additions

$

Deductions
Benefits
Scholarships and awards
Total deductions

2,234,767
21,625
2,256,392

Private Purpose
Trust Funds
$

1,959,767
23,425
23,425

1,959,767

Change in net position

296,625

Net position at beginning of year, restated (Note 17)
Net position at end of year

14,648
79
14,727

$

1,381,546
1,678,171

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(8,698)

$

99,793
91,095

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020
NOTE 1. ORGANIZATION AND REPORTING ENTITY
A. Organization
The County of Norfolk, Massachusetts (the County), was incorporated in 1793. The County is a body of
politic and corporate organized under Section 1 of Chapter 34 of the General Laws of Massachusetts
(MGL). The County operates pursuant to MGL, under a County Commissioners’ form of government. The
County has no charter or other founding documents.
The County is statutorily responsible for providing and maintaining an agricultural high school, recreational
facility (golf course), and registry of deeds. The Commonwealth of Massachusetts provides rental income to
the County for its courthouses which are owned, operated and maintained by the County.
B. Reporting Entity
General
The accompanying financial statements present the County of Norfolk (the primary government) and its
component units. Component units are included in the reporting entity if their operational and financial
relationships with the County are significant. Pursuant to these criteria, the County of Norfolk did not
identify any component units requiring inclusion in the accompanying financial statements. The County
participates in several cost sharing arrangements the Norfolk County Contributory Retirement System and
the Mayflower Municipal Health Group. These entities provide retirement and health and dental benefits,
respectively, to member units' participants. The County has no equity interest in these entities. Additional
disclosures are detailed in these Notes. No additional significant joint ventures or related organizations were
identified. It should be noted pursuant to MGL, the County Treasurer serves as treasurer and chairman of the
county retirement system.
NOTE 2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
A. Basis of Presentation
The County’s financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted
in the United States of America (GAAP). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) is
responsible for establishing GAAP for state and local governments through its pronouncements (Statements
and Interpretations). The more significant accounting policies established in GAAP and used by the County
are discussed below.
The County’s basic financial statements include both government-wide (reporting the County as a whole)
and fund financial statements (reporting the County’s major funds). The government-wide financial
statements categorize primary activities as either governmental or business type. All of the County’s
operations have been classified as governmental activities. The County’s self-insured health plan, which has
been classified as a proprietary fund for fund basis statements is included as a governmental activity.
Government-wide Statements
In the government-wide Statement of Net Position, both the governmental columns are presented on a
consolidated basis by column and are reported on a full accrual, economic resource basis, which recognizes
all long-term assets and receivables as well as long-term debt and obligations. The County’s net position is
reported in three components—net investment in capital assets, restricted, and unrestricted. The County first
utilizes restricted resources to finance qualifying activities.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020
The government-wide Statement of Activities reports both the gross and net cost of each of the County’s
functions. Gross expenses are reduced on the Statement of Activities by related program revenues, operating
and capital grants. Program revenues must be directly associated with the function. Operating grants include
operating-specific and discretionary (either operating or capital) grants while the capital grants column
reflects capital-specific grants.
The net costs by function are normally covered by general revenue.
Certain costs, such as pension benefits, property, liability and health insurance, among others are not
allocated among the County’s functions and are included as a separate functional expense, Employee
benefits and other costs in the Statement of Activities.
The government-wide focus is more on the sustainability of the County as an entity and the change in the
County’s net position resulting from the current year’s activities.
Fund Financial Statements
The financial transactions of the County are reported in individual funds in the fund financial statements.
Each fund is accounted for by providing a separate set of self-balancing accounts that comprises its assets,
liabilities, reserves, fund equity, revenues and expenditures/expenses. The various funds are reported by
generic classification within the financial statements.
The emphasis in fund financial statements is on the major funds in either the governmental or business-type
activities categories. Governmental Accounting Standards set forth minimum criteria (percentage of the
assets and deferred outflows of resources, liabilities and deferred inflows of resources, revenues or
expenditures/expenses of either fund category or the governmental and enterprise combined) for the
determination of major funds. The County may electively add funds, as major funds, which have specific
community focus. Nonmajor funds by category are summarized into a single column titled "Other
Governmental Funds".
The County’s fiduciary funds are presented in the fiduciary fund financial statements by type (OPEB,
private purpose and agency). Since by definition these funds are being held for the benefit of a third party
(other local governments, private parties, etc.) and cannot be used to address activities or obligations of the
government, these funds are not incorporated into the government-wide statements.
The following fund types are used by the County:
Governmental Funds:
The focus of the governmental funds’ measurement (in the fund statements) is upon determination of
financial position and changes in financial position (sources, uses, and balances of financial resources) rather
than upon net income. The following is a description of the governmental funds of the County:
Major Funds:
General fund is the general operating fund of the County. It is used to account for all financial resources
except those required to be accounted for in another fund.
Special revenue funds are other funds used to account for the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are
restricted or committed to expenditure for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects. The
following special revenue fund of the County have been reported as major funds:
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020


Agricultural High School – accounts for and reports revenues and expenditures specifically
restricted or committed for the operation of the County’s agricultural high school.



Deeds Excise – accounts for and reports revenues and expenditures associated with the County’s
share of deeds excise receipts. Massachusetts General Law Chapter 64 D requires the County’
Register of Deeds to collect an excise tax on all deeds for the conveyance of any land,
tenements or other realty sold. Pursuant to the statute, said excise tax is allocated between the
County and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 10.63% and 89.37%, respectively.
Additionally, the County’s share is to be allocated between the County and Registry of Deeds.
This represents amounts which have been allocated to Registry of Deeds through June 30, 2020
by the County. See additional information in the accompanying notes.

Capital projects funds are other funds used to account for the resources that are restricted or committed to
expenditure for the acquisition capital assets or renovation, repair and construction of facilities. The County
has determined capital project funds are to account for and report capital assets to be issued primarily
through the issuance of long-term debt. Other capital outlays have been recorded in the fund from which the
expenditure was incurred. The following are capital project funds of the County have been reported as major
funds:


Agricultural High School Building Project– accounts for and reports financial resources that are
restricted, committed, or assigned to expenditure for the renovation and construction of facilities
at the County’s agricultural high school.



County capital projects - accounts for and reports financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for the renovation and construction of facilities at the
County’s courthouses and other facilities.

Other governmental funds consist of other special revenue, and capital projects funds that are aggregated
and presented in the non-major governmental funds column on the governmental funds financial statements.
The following describes the general use of these funds:


Special revenue funds are other funds, not classified as major funds, used to account for and
report the proceeds of specific revenue sources that are restricted, or committed to expenditure
for specified purposes other than debt service or capital projects.



Debt service funds are used to account for and report financial resources that are restricted,
committed, or assigned to expenditure for principal and interest. Currently, the County does not
utilize a debt service fund.



Permanent funds are used to account for and report resources that are restricted to the extent that
only earnings, and not principal, may be used for purposes that support the governmental
programs. Currently, the County does not have any permanent funds.

Proprietary Funds:
The focus of proprietary fund measurement is upon determination of operating income, changes in net
position, financial position, and cash flows. The generally accepted accounting principles applicable are
those similar to businesses in the private sector. The following is a description of the proprietary funds
available to the County:


Enterprise funds are required to be used to account for operations for which a fee is charged to
external users for goods or services and the activity is financed with debt that is solely secured
by a pledge of the net revenues, has third party requirements that the cost of providing services,
including capital costs, be recovered with fees and charges or establishes fees and charges
based on a pricing policy designed to recover similar costs. Currently, the County does not
utilize any enterprise funds.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020


Internal service funds are used to account for the financing of goods or services provided by an
activity to other departments, funds or component units of the County on a cost-reimbursement
basis. The fund accounts for the County’s previously self-insured health plan. It has been
reported as a governmental fund on the entity-wide financial statements. See the accompanying
Notes for additional information.

Fiduciary Funds:
Fiduciary funds are used to report resources held in a trustee or agency capacity for others and therefore are
not available to support County programs. The reporting focus is on net position and changes in net position
and is reported using accounting principles similar to proprietary funds. The following is a description of the
fiduciary funds of the County:


Other Post-Employment Benefit trust fund accounts for resources legally held in trust for the
providing health insurance benefits to retired employees of the County and are not subject to
creditors of the County. Since these funds cannot be used for providing County services, they
are excluded from the County’s government-wide financial statements. This fund was
established pursuant to County Commissioner and County Advisory Board vote in accordance
with provisions of MGL Chapter 32B, section 20 which allows for establishment of a trust fund
for other post-employment benefits. The fund is maintained in accordance with a formal Trust
document.



Private purpose trust funds account for resources legally held in trust for the benefit of persons
and organizations other than the County. Since these funds cannot be used for providing
County services, they are excluded from the County’s government-wide financial statements.



Agency accounts are used to hold funds on behalf of parties other than the County. Agency
funds are custodial in nature and do not involve measurement of results of operations These
amounts represent amounts represent the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' share of registry
fee on hand at year end and paid in the following month. Additional amounts represent student
activity account balance maintained on behalf of student groups for their specific benefit.

B. Measurement Focus and Basis of Accounting
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus
and the accrual basis of accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund financial statements.
Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the
timing of related cash flows. County taxes are recognized as revenues in the year for which they are levied.
Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met. Non-operating income of the proprietary fund consists of investment income.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the flow of current financial resources
measurement focus and the modified accrual basis of accounting. Under the modified accrual basis of
accounting, revenues are recognized when susceptible to accrual (i.e., measurable and available).
Measurable means the amount of the transaction can be determined and available means collectible within
the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. Expenditures are
recorded when the related fund liability is incurred, except for unmatured interest on general long-term debt
which is recognized when due, and certain compensated absences, claims and judgments which are
recognized when the obligations are expected to be liquidated with current expendable available resources.
Revenues are considered available if they are collected within 60 days after fiscal year end. In applying this
principle, the county generally accrues as revenues the amount of courthouse rent reimbursements, building
project reimbursements and school tuitions due to the County prior to year-end and collected within 60 days
after the end of its fiscal year. All other revenues and investment income, which is susceptible to accrual,
become measurable and available when the cash is received and are recognized as revenue at that time.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020
Entitlements and shared revenues are recorded at the time of receipt or earlier if the susceptible to accrual
criteria is met. Expenditure driven grants recognize revenue when the qualifying expenditures are incurred
and all other grant requirements are met.
C. Fair Value Measurement
The County measures assets and liabilities, except for capital assets, at fair value according to the hierarchy
established by generally accepted accounting principles. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell
an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The hierarchy is based upon valuation inputs, which are assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing an asset or a liability, including assumptions about risk. The following
are levels considered:


Level 1 inputs are quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date.



Level 2 inputs are directly observable for an asset or a liability (including quoted prices for
similar assets or liabilities), as well as inputs that are indirectly observable for the asset or
liability.



Level 3 inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability.

With the exception of capital assets, investments and certain amounts associated with actuarial calculations
for amounts associated with other postemployment benefits and retirement obligations, the County measures
assets, and liabilities as Level 1 inputs. See additional note disclosures.
D. Cash and Investments
The County has not adopted formal deposit and investment policies. The County Treasurer manages funds
pursuant to Massachusetts General Laws.
For the purpose of these financial statements “cash and cash equivalents” include all demand, savings
accounts, certificates of deposit with an original maturity date of one year or less and deposits maintained
with the MMDT.
Investments are required to be carried at fair value. Fair value is based on quoted market price. Additional
cash and investment disclosures are presented in these notes.
E. Interfund Receivables and Payables
During the course of operations, numerous transactions occur between individual funds that may result in
amounts owed between funds. Those related to goods and services type transactions are classified as “due to
and from other funds.” Short-term interfund loans are reported as “interfund receivables and payables.”
Long-term interfund loans (noncurrent portion) are reported as “advances from and to other funds.”
Interfund receivables and payables between funds within governmental activities are eliminated in the
Statement of Net Position.
F. Receivables
Receivables consist of all revenues earned at year-end and not yet received, net of an allowance for
uncollectible amounts. Allowances for uncollectible accounts receivable are based upon historical trends and
the periodic aging of accounts receivable, as applicable. The County reported no significant accounts
receivable at June 30, 2020.
15

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
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June 30, 2020
G. Inventories
Inventories are maintained with consumable products associated with the Agricultural High School food
service program. Additional inventory is maintained at the golf pro-shop at the Wollaston Recreational
Facility. The County accounts for these costs at the time of expenditure and does not maintain an inventory
for financial reporting purposes.
H. Capital Assets
The accounting treatment over property, plant, and equipment (capital assets) depends on whether the assets
are used in governmental fund operations or proprietary fund operations and whether they are reported in the
government-wide or fund financial statements.
Government-wide Statements
All capital assets are valued at historical cost or estimated historical cost if actual is unavailable, except for
donated capital assets, which are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of donation. Estimated
historical cost was used to value the majority of the assets acquired prior to June 30, 2002. The County
maintains a capitalization threshold of fifteen thousand dollars ($15,000).
Prior to July 1, 2002, governmental funds’ infrastructure assets were not capitalized. These assets (back to
July 1, 1980) have been valued at estimated historical cost. The County has no significant infrastructure
assets which are owned or maintained by the County.
Depreciation of all exhaustible capital assets is recorded as an allocated expense in the Statement of
Activities, with accumulated depreciation reflected in the Statement of Net Position. Depreciation is
provided over the assets’ estimated useful lives using the straight-line method of depreciation. The range of
estimated useful lives by type of asset is as follows:





Buildings
Building Improvements
Machinery and Equipment
Vehicles

40 years
7- 20 years
10 years
5 years

Fund Financial Statements
In the fund financial statements, capital assets used in governmental fund operations are accounted for as
capital outlay expenditures of the governmental fund upon acquisition. Capital assets used in proprietary
fund operations are accounted for the same as in the government-wide statements.
I. Deferred Outflows and Deferred Inflows
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of assets by the government that is applicable to a
future reporting period. These deferred outflows of resources have a positive effect on net position.
Deferred inflows of resources represent the acquisition of assets by the government that is applicable to a
future reporting period. These deferred inflows of resources have a negative effect on net position.
J. Liabilities
Liabilities represent present obligations to sacrifice resources for which the government has little or no
discretion to avoid. The primary focus is on the obligation for the government to perform. The accounting
treatment for these obligations depends on whether they are reported in the government-wide or fund
financial statements.
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Current liabilities are reported in both the fund and government-wide financial statements. Current liabilities
represent obligations incurred in the operating cycle for acquisition goods, services, accruals for salaries and
wages, and other obligations due or generally expected to be liquidated within one year from the balance
sheet date.
Generally, all noncurrent (long term) liabilities are not reported as liabilities in the fund financial statements,
but are reported in the government-wide statements. Such obligations consist primarily of bonds payable,
capital leases, compensated absences, estimated worker's compensation obligations, pension and other postemployment obligations.
K. Compensated Absences
The County’s policies and provisions of bargaining unit contracts and personnel by-laws regarding vacation
and sick time permit employees to earn vacation and sick leave as they provide services. Upon retirement,
termination, or death, covered employees are compensated for unused vacation days and unused sick days
(up to a maximum of 20%). The cost of vacation and sick leave benefits is recorded when incurred as an
expenditure of the appropriate fund. The amounts payable for vacation and sick leave for eligible personnel
are recorded as long-term obligations in the government-wide statements.
L. Equity Classifications
Government-wide Statements
Equity is classified as net position in the government-wide financial statements. The County utilizes
resources which have been restricted prior to utilizing unrestricted resources. Net position is displayed in the
following three components:


Net investment in capital assets — This component of net position consists of capital assets, net of
accumulated depreciation, reduced by the outstanding balances of bonds, notes or other borrowings
that are attributable to the acquisition, construction, or improvement of those assets. Deferred
outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources that are attributable to the acquisition,
construction, or improvement of those assets or related debt are also included in this component of
net position.



Restricted — This component of net position consists of restricted assets reduced by liabilities and
deferred inflows of resources related to those assets. These assets may be restricted by constraints
placed on the use either by (1) external groups such as creditors, grantors, contributors, or laws or
regulations of other governments; or (2) law through constitutional provisions or enabling
legislation.



Unrestricted — This component of net position is the net amount of the assets, deferred outflows of
resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources that are not included in the determination of
net investment in capital assets or the restricted component of net position.

Fund Financial Statements
Governmental fund equity is classified as fund balance. Fund balance is further classified based on the
extent to which the government is bound to honor constraints on the specific purposes for which amounts in
the funds can be spent. The County does not maintain any minimum fund balance policies. The County
utilizes funds for qualifying activities pursuant to the following hierarchy. Fund balances can be classified
into the following components:


Nonspendable fund balance – consists of amounts that cannot be spent because they are
either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained
intact.
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Restricted fund balance – consists of amounts upon which constraints have been placed on
their use either (a) externally imposed by creditors (such as through debt covenants),
grantors, contributors, or laws or regulations of other governments; (b) imposed by law
through constitutional provisions or enabling legislation.



Committed fund balance – consist of amounts which can only be used for specific purposes
pursuant to constraints imposed by formal action of the County Advisory Board and
requires such action to remove the constraint.



Assigned fund balance – consist of amounts that are constrained by the County’s intent to
be used for a specific purpose. Intent is expressed by (a) the governing body itself, or (b) a
body, or official to which the governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts
to be used for specific purposes. Amounts are generally assigned by the County
Commissioners, or department head responsible for respective budgeted appropriations.
Amounts may also be assigned by action of the County Advisory Board.



Unassigned fund balance – represents the residual classification for the general fund. It
represents amounts that have not been assigned to other funds and has not been restricted,
committed, or assigned to specific purposes within the general fund. In other governmental
funds, negative fund balances may occur if amounts restricted, committed, or assigned for
the specific purpose have been eliminated.

M. Use of estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reporting period. Actual
results will differ from those estimates.
N. Total columns
The total column presented on the government-wide financial statements represents consolidated financial
information.
The total column presented on the fund financial statements is presented only to facilitate financial analysis.
Data in this column is not the equivalent of consolidated financial information.
O. Pensions
Norfolk County Retirement System & Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System
For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of both the
Norfolk County Retirement System (BCRS) and the Massachusetts’ Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS)
and additions to/deductions from the Systems’ fiduciary net positions have been determined on the same
basis as they are reported by the Systems. For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee
contributions) are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms. Investments are
reported at fair value.
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P. Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (OPEB)
The net OPEB liability associated with the County’s other postemployment benefit plan (the Plan) is
measured by an actuarial valuation utilizing various assumptions. The County maintains an irrevocable trust
in accordance with MGL and the trust agreement. For purposes of measuring the net other postemployment
benefit liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to other
postemployment benefits have been determined by actuarial valuation of the Plan. Investments are reported
at fair value.
NOTE 3. STEWARDSHIP, COMPLIANCE AND ACCOUNTABILITY
A. County tax and limitations
The County tax is levied annually by the County Commissioners on the basis of the approved budget, after
deducting probable receipts from sources other than the County tax. The County Commissioners are also
required to levy annually as a County tax, an amount sufficient to meet debt service costs in the event no
provision has been made. All County taxes are apportioned and assessed upon the cities and towns
comprising the County. The apportionment is based upon the equalized valuations of each city and town as
of every July 1. County taxes are normally due on the subsequent November 1 and May 1.
A statewide property tax limitation statute known as “Proposition 2 ½ “limits subsequent increases to the tax
levy. The amounts by which the County assessment may increase in any fiscal year is limited to the sum of
2-1/2% of the previous year’s total assessment plus increases in County costs for services requested or
customarily provided locally.
Pursuant to Massachusetts General Law, Chapter 35, Section 30, the County is limited to retaining an
undesignated fund balance not in excess of 10% of the previous year’s County tax. Any excess must be
applied to reduce the following year’s County tax.
B. Deeds excise and registry fees
Massachusetts General Law Chapter 64 D requires the County’s Register of Deeds to collects an excise tax
on all deeds for the conveyance of any land, tenements or other realty sold. Pursuant to the statute, said
excise tax is allocated between the County and the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 10.63% and 89.37%
respectively. Pursuant to statute, the County’s share is to be allocated not more than 60% shall be disbursed
and expended for meeting the costs of the operation and maintenance of the County, and not less than 40%
shall be disbursed and expended for the automation, modernization and operation of the registry of deeds.
The County’s Registry of Deeds is required to remit the state's share on a monthly basis along with other
fees collected upon recording of other instruments and documents at the Registry. The County’s Registry of
Deeds reports Commonwealth’s share of registry fees and deeds excise taxes collected for the month of June
and paid subsequent to year end as agency amounts in the financial statements.
C. Fund equities
Operations of the various County funds for the fiscal year were funded in accordance with interpretations of
the General Laws of Massachusetts. The County classifies fund equity in the fund financial statements as
either nonspendable, restricted, committed or assigned for specific purposes. The residual is reported as
unassigned fund balance. As of June 30, 2020, the classification of the County’s fund balances can be
detailed as follows:

19

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Notes to Financial Statements
June 30, 2020

Agricultural
High School
General

Agricultural

Building

County
Capital

Fund

High School

Projects

Projects

Other
Deeds

Governmental

Excise

Funds

Restricted:
Registry of Deeds

$

$

Agricultural High School

$
246,263

$

$ 4,441,257

1,880,337

Maintenance/capital

$

934,259
163,949

1,498,399

Other

106,812

Total

246,263

1,880,337

1,498,399

4,441,257

1,880,337

$ 1,498,399

$ 4,441,257

1,205,020

Assigned:
Commissioners/IT

58,497

Treasurer

1,751

Wollaston

25,807

Maintenance

63,588

Engineering

6,067

Registry of Deeds
Next year's operating
budget

94,049
500,000

Total

749,759

Unassigned

5,477,639

Total fund balance

$

6,227,398

$

246,263

$

$ 1,205,020

As previously stated, the County maintains a stabilization fund in accordance with provisions of
Massachusetts General Law (MGL). This fund is not supported by specific revenue sources; accordingly,
under financial reporting requirements it is included in the general fund. The balance in the stabilization
fund at June 30, 2020 was $3.8 million, of which $500,000 was assigned to the original fiscal year 2021
operating budget.
The County also maintains a capital improvement fund specifically restricted for the Agricultural High
School in accordance with MGL. The fund is not supported by specific revenues. Accordingly, the fund has
been included with the Agricultural High School for financial reporting purposes. Total Agricultural High
School fund balance consisted of the following as of June 30, 2020
Agricultural High School
Agricultural High SchoolCapital improvement

$

Balance
134,357
111,906

$
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D. Restricted Net Position
The restricted net position reported by the County in the government-wide statement of net position consist
of the following:
Restricted net position:
Deeds excise
Registry Deeds:
Technology funds
Deeds excise interest
Electronic search
Postage
Agricultural High school grants /other
RSVP and other
Total restricted net position

$

4,441,257

$

294,735
292,476
166,946
180,102
163,949
106,812
5,646,277

NOTE 4. CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND INVESTMENTS
Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 35, Section 22, place certain limitations on cash deposits and
investments available to County funds. Authorized deposits include demand deposits, term deposits, and
certificates of deposit in trust companies, national banks, savings banks, and certain other financial
institutions. Deposits may not exceed certain levels without collateralization of the excess by the financial
institution involved. The County may also invest in United States treasury bills. The County may invest in
units of the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT), an external investment pool managed by
the Treasurer of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
The County maintains deposits in authorized financial institutions. In the case of deposits, custodial credit
risk is the risk that in the event of a bank failure, the County’s deposits may not be returned. At June 30,
2020 the County’s cash deposits totaled $17.1 million and had a carrying amount of $22.3 million. Of the
deposit amounts, $10.3 million was exposed to custodial credit risk at June 30, 2020 because it was
uninsured and uncollateralized. The difference between deposit amounts and carrying amounts represents
outstanding checks, payables, deposits in transit and other miscellaneous items.
As of June 30, 2020, the County's governmental activities maintained the following investments:

Types of Investments
Primary government:
Massachusetts Municipal Depository
Trust (MMDT)

Fair Value/
Carrying
Amount

Average
Credit
Quality/
Ratings

Weighted
Average
Days to
Maturity

$ 56,586

N/A

90 days or less

The County (primary government) does not have formal deposit or investment policies which addresses the
following risks:
Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counter party to a transaction, a
government will not be able to recover the value of its deposit, investment or collateral securities that are in
the possession of another party.
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in market interest rates that will adversely affect the fair market
value of an investment. Generally, the longer the maturity of an investment, the greater the sensitivity of its
fair market value to changes in market interest rates.
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Credit risk is the risk that an issuer of an investment will not fulfill its obligation to the holder of the
investment. Credit risk is measured by the assignment of a rating by a nationally recognized statistical rating
organization. Obligations of the U.S. Government and certain of its agencies are not considered to have
credit risk and therefore no rating is disclosed in the above table. Equity securities and equity mutual funds
are not rated as to credit risk.
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government’s investment in a
single issuer. Excluding investments in external investment pools, investments in excess of 5% in a single
issuer must be disclosed. The County’s investments are entirely in an external investment pool (MMDT).
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment or a deposit.
The Norfolk County OPEB Trust Fund reported the following cash and investments within the portfolio for
June 30, 2020. Additional details associated with individual funds can be obtained by contacting the County
Treasurer’s office directly.
Description

Balance

FDIC insured bank deposits

$

Exchange Traded Funds (ETF)
Total

59,568
1,618,603

$

1,678,171

The OPEB Trust fund is controlled and managed by a five-member Board of Trustees comprised of elected
and appointed officials of the County. Trust fund assets are invested in accordance with the trust document
and MGL Chapter 203C.
NOTE 5. CAPITAL ASSETS
Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2020, was as follows. Certain amounts have been restated
to correspond with current year presentation.
Beginning
Balance

Governmental Activities:
Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land
Construction in progress
subtotal

$

Increases

4,189,552
1,052,081
5,241,633

$

(Decreases)
$

654,031
654,031

Capital assets being depreciated:
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Vehicles, equipment, other
subtotal

5,341,075
22,095,464
16,589,592
6,590,365
50,616,496

1,270,438
294,194
1,685,446

Less accumulated depreciation:
Land improvements
Buildings
Building improvements
Vehicles, equipment, other
subtotal
Governmental capital assets, net

2,727,743
5,463,977
5,842,260
4,904,258
18,938,238
$ 36,919,891

187,555
63,475
1,279,722
421,061
1,951,813
387,664

(1,082,547)
(1,082,547)

$

4,189,552
623,565
4,813,117

(128,195)
(128,195)

5,461,889
22,095,464
17,860,030
6,756,364
52,173,747

(35,285)
(35,285)
$ (1,175,457)

2,915,298
5,527,452
7,121,982
5,290,034
20,854,766
$ 36,132,098

120,814

$
22
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Depreciation expense for fiscal year 2020 was charged to functions/programs of the primary government as
follows:
Governmental activities
Agricultural High School
Maintenance
Wollaston
Commissioners
Registry of Deeds
Engineering
Total

$

$

1,242,117
352,057
148,661
106,812
88,768
13,398
1,951,813

NOTE 6. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED PAYROLL
Accounts payable and accrued payroll, withholdings, and benefits represent expenditures for the fiscal year
that were obligated as of year end, but not yet paid. This included payroll accounts with the Agricultural
High School to be paid over the summer months.
NOTE 7. TEMPORARY BORROWING
Under state law and by authorization of the County Commissioners, County Advisory Board, and the
General Court of Massachusetts, the County is authorized to issue general obligation indebtedness for
purposes and terms permitted by Massachusetts statute. Generally, when debt has been authorized, the
County may issue temporary (short-term) debt in anticipation of revenues, grants or issuance of serial bonds
or serial notes (long term debt). Temporary debt obligations include the following:




Current operating costs prior to the collection of revenues through issuance of tax or revenue
anticipation notes (TANs and RANs),
Capital project costs incurred prior to obtaining permanent financing through issuance of bond
anticipation notes (BANs),
Federal and state aided capital projects and other program expenditures prior to receiving
reimbursement through issuance of federal and state aid anticipation notes (FANs and SANs).

Temporary loans are general obligations of the County and carry maturity dates that are limited by statute.
Interest expenditures and issuance costs for temporary borrowings are accounted for in the appropriate fund.
The County had no temporary debt outstanding at the beginning of the fiscal year and end of the year. The
County had no such activity during the year.
NOTE 8. DEFERRED OUTFLOWS AND DEFERRED INFLOWS OF RESOURCES
Deferred outflows of resources represent a consumption of assets by the government that is applicable to a
future reporting period. These deferred outflows of resources have a positive effect on net position. Deferred
inflows of resources represent the acquisition of assets by the government that is applicable to a future
reporting period. In governmental funds these amounts also include assets reported for which revenue is not
yet available. These deferred inflows of resources have a negative effect on net position. The County’s
deferred outflows and deferred inflows associated with governmental activities are detailed in the following
table.
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Deferred Outflows
of Resources

Description
OPEB obligation:
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes in assumptions

$

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments
subtotal
Pension obligation:
Difference between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions and
proportionate share of contributions
subtotal
Total deferred outflows of resources

7,704,489
38,917
7,743,406
2,626,167
562,190
4,000,695

$

3,275,481
10,464,533
18,207,939

Deferred Inflows
of Resources

Description
OPEB obligation:
Differences between actual and expected experience
Changes in assumptions

$

Net difference between projected and actual earnings on OPEB plan investments
subtotal
Pension obligation:
Net difference between projected and actual earnings on pension plan
investments
Changes in proportion and differences between employer contributions and
proportionate share of contributions
subtotal
Total deferred outflows of resources

487,256
389,411
2,114
878,781
4,863,964

$

447,740
5,311,704
6,190,485

See the accompanying notes associated with other postemployment benefit plan and pension plan for
additional information.
NOTE 9. INTERFUND BALANCES AND ACTIVITY
At June 30, 2020, the County did not report any interfund receivables or payables.
Interfund transfers, for the year ended June 30, 2020, consisted of the following:
Agricultural
Description
County's maintenance of effort funding

General

Agricultural

High School

Deeds

Governmental

Fund

High School

Capital Projects

Excise

Funds

$(3,987,587)

Transfer for current year end reserves

94,048

Transfer of unexpended prior year reserves

(52,960)

$

3,987,587

$

$

$
(94,048)
52,960

Capital project transfers
Other transfers

Other

130,000

(130,000)

178,650

(178,650)

Sheriff department unfunded pension
liability amortization payment
County share of deeds excise
Net transfers

1,865,045

(1,865,045)

2,771,116
$ 868,312

(2,771,116)
$

4,117,587
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(130,000)
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NOTE 10. LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
The following is a summary of changes in long-term obligations for the year ended June 30, 2020. Certain
prior year amounts have been restated to correspond with current year presentation.
(restated)
Beginning
Balance

Description
Agricultural High School,
renovations, 2.25%-4.00%, matures
9/15/2041
Agricultural High School,
renovations, 2.25%-4.0%, matures
9/25/2042
Agricultural High School,
renovations, 2.0%-3.0%, matures
6/30/2037
Agricultural High School,
renovations, 5.0%, matures 6/30/2030
Agricultural High School,
renovations, 2.0%-5.0%, matures 6/30/2045
Courthouse renovations,
matures, 3.00%-4.00%, 9/15/2023
County general renovations, 5.0%
matures 6/30/2030

$

5,395,000

Additions

Ending
Balance

(Reductions)

$

$

(165,000)

$

5,230,000

$

(145,000)

4,875,000

150,000

2,605,000

(115,000)

2,490,000

120,000

212,000

212,000

17,000

1,931,500

1,931,500

36,500

(35,000)

120,000

40,000

1,271,500

91,500

(460,000)

16,130,000

625,000

(66,640)
(326,000)

34,936

(3,062,499)

109,332
884,000
55,376,593
30,650,254

$ (3,915,139)

$ 103,150,179

1,271,500

Total bonds payable

13,175,000

Capital leases
Estimated compensated absences
Net OPEB liability
Net pension liability

175,972
1,210,000
44,321,079
33,712,753
$ 92,594,804

3,415,000

11,055,514
$ 14,470,514

$

Long-term debt - bonds payable
The annual requirements to amortize all general obligation bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2020, including
interest, are as follows:
Year
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025
2026-2030
2031-2035
2036-2040
2041-2045
Total

Principal
$

170,000

5,020,000

155,000

Total long-term liabilities governmental activities

Current
Portion

Interest

Total

625,000
660,000
695,000
675,000
700,000
3,865,000
3,485,000
3,455,000
1,970,000

$

519,248
474,125
447,075
422,575
401,094
1,636,931
1,061,644
549,119
92,656

$

$ 16,130,000

$

5,604,467

$ 21,734,467
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5,501,931
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There are no legislated long-term debt limitations which prohibit County borrowings above a specified
amount. All long-term bond issues must be approved by the General Court of Massachusetts, as well as the
County Commissioners and County Advisory Board. All bonds are general obligations of the County.
As of June 30, 2020, the County has approximately $13,637,150 of authorized unissued bonds, of which
$7,488,015 is for the balance of the construction of renovations projects at the Norfolk County Agricultural
High School, $3,150,000 is for the balance of courthouse repair and renovation project and $2,999,135 for
the Norfolk County Agricultural High School.
Lease obligations
A. Operating leases
The County has entered into a number of operating leases to support governmental activities, some of which
are non-cancelable but otherwise are subject to annual appropriation. These amounts are immaterial to the
County’s financial statements as of June 30, 2020.
B. Capital leases – Direct Financing Arrangements
In accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, the County may enter into lease agreements for a period
not to exceed five years and subject to annual appropriation. Outstanding balances associated with these
arrangements at June 30, 2020 were $109,332, of which $98,996 and $10,336 were associated with capital
assets maintained at the Wollaston Recreational Facility and Agricultural High School, respectively. The net
book value associated with these capital assets were $117,329 and $12,521 respectively. The annual
requirement to pay down capital lease obligations outstanding as of June 30, 2020, including interest is
illustrated in the following table.
Year
2021
2022
2023
2024
Total

Principal
$
34,935
24,695
24,797
24,905
$ 109,332

Interest
$
958
322
220
113
$
1,613

Total
$
35,893
25,017
25,017
25,018
$ 110,945

NOTE 11. MASSACHUSETTS SCHOOL BUILDING AUTHORITY FUNDING
Effective March 13, 2020, and signed July 9, 2021, an amended Project Funding Agreement between the
Norfolk County Agricultural High School and the Massachusetts School Building Authority (MSBA)
associated with renovation project of Kemp Hall. Pursuant to the agreement, the MSBA reimbursement will
not exceed the lesser of 49.315% of final approved eligible project costs or $1,129,807. Project costs are to
be reimbursed as costs are submitted periodically to the MSBA for audit and determined eligibility.
NOTE 12. ACCRUED WORKER’S COMPENSATION
Effective July 1, 2014, the County obtained commercial worker's compensation insurance through
Massachusetts Education & Government Association (MEGA) Property & Casualty Group, Inc. to cover
claims subsequent to this date. The County remains self-insured (obligated) for previously incurred worker's
compensation claims. At June 30, 2020, an estimated long-term liability of $35,100 was recorded, based
upon best available information available, to be paid for ongoing treatment for one remaining claimant,
pursuant to a settlement with the claimant. This liability has been included within benefits payable at year
end for financial reporting purposes.
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NOTE 13. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
1. Norfolk County Contributory Retirement System
Plan Description
The Norfolk County Contributory Retirement System (the System/Plan) is a multiple-employer, cost
sharing, contributory defined benefit pension plan covering all employees of the governmental member units
deemed eligible by the Norfolk County Retirement Board (the Board), with the exception of school
department employees who serve in a teaching capacity. The pensions for these school employees are
administered by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts' Teachers Retirement System (MTRS). Membership
in the Plan is mandatory immediately upon the commencement of employment for all non-teaching
permanent, full time employees. As of December 31, 2019, the System had 41 participating employers.
The System is a member of the Massachusetts Contributory Retirement System and is governed by Chapter
32 of the Massachusetts General Laws (MGL). The Public Employee Retirement Administration
Commission (PERAC) is the state agency responsible for oversight of the Commonwealth's public
retirement systems. The System is governed by a five-member Board who establish the policies under which
the System operates. The System issued an audited financial statement for the year ended December 31,
2019, which may be obtained via the System's website at www.norfolkcountyretirement.org, or by
contacting the System directly at: Norfolk County Contributory Retirement System, 480 Neponset Street,
Building #15, Canton, MA 02021.
Benefits Provided
The System provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries.
Massachusetts General Laws (MGL) establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all
contributory public employee retirement systems (PERS). Those requirements provide for superannuation
retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member’s highest three-year average annual
rate of regular compensation. For employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated
on the basis of the last five years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of
compensation. Benefit payments are based upon a member’s age, length of credible service, and group
creditable service, and group classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the
Legislature.
Contributions
There are three classes of membership in the retirement system: Group 1, Group 2 and Group 4. Group 1
consists of general employees which includes clerical and administrative positions. Group 2 consists of
positions that have specified as hazardous. Lastly, Group 4 consists of police officers, firefighters and other
hazardous positions.
Any individual in Group 1 or Group 2 whose membership began before January 1, 1978 and who maintains
an annuity savings fund account, is eligible to receive a superannuation retirement allowance at age 55 or
later, regardless of how many years or creditable service. There is no minimum vesting requirements for
individuals in Group 4.
Members in Group 1 and 2, hired after January 1, 1978 and prior to April 2, 2012, are eligible to receive a
superannuation retirement allowance upon the completion of 20 years of service or upon completion of 10
years of service and upon reaching age 55.
Members in Group 1 and 2, hired on or after April 2, 2012, are eligible to receive a superannuation
retirement allowance upon the completion of 10 years of service and upon reaching age 60 (Group 1) or age
55 (Group 2).
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Governmental employers are required to pay an annual appropriation established by PERAC. The total
appropriation includes the amount to pay the pension portion of each member's retirement allowance, an
amount to amortize the actuarially determined unfunded liability to zero in accordance with the system's
funding schedule, and an additional appropriation in accordance with adopted early retirement incentive
programs. The total appropriations are payable July 1 and January 1. Employers may choose to pay the
entire appropriation in July at a discount rate of approximately 2%. The pension fund appropriations are
allocated among employers based on covered payroll. The County's statutorily required contribution for the
year was $3,910,135.
Pension Liabilities, Expenses, and Deferred Outflows/Inflows of Resources Related to Pensions
The collective net pension liability of the System at December 31, 2019 (in thousands) was determined by
an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2020.
Total Pension Liability

$

Less: The Pension Plan's Fiduciary Net Position
Net Pension Liability

1,070,461,310
$

The Pension Plan's Fiduciary Net Position
as a percentage of Total Pension Liability
Total County pension expense
The County's proportionate share of the collective net pension liability
The County's percentage share of the collective net pension liability
The County's covered payroll
The County's statutory required contribution

1,657,574,687
587,113,377

64.6%
$
$
$
$

7,067,249
30,650,254
5.22%
9,584,599
3,910,135

As detailed in Note 8, the County’s aggregate deferred outflows of resources associated with the pension
plan was $10,464,533 and aggregate deferred inflows of resources were $5,311,704, for a net amount of
$5,152,829. This is to be recognized in future pension expense in the amounts as follows: $3,691,678 for the
year ended June 30, 2021, $1,257,100 for the year ended June 30, 2022, $984,481 for the year ended June
30, 2023, and ($780,430) for the year ended June 30, 2024.
Actuarial Assumptions and Methods
Valuation date:
Measurement date:
Actuarial cost method:
Asset valuation method:
Investment rate of return:
Projected salary increases:
Inflation:
Cost of living increases:
Mortality:

January 1, 2020
December 31, 2019
Entry Age Normal Cost Method
Market Value
7.75%
3.5-5.5%
7.75%
3.0% of the first $18,000
The RP-2014 Blue Collar Mortality Table adjusted with MP-2014

The long term expected rate of return on Plan investments was determined using a building-block method in
which best-estimates ranges of expected future real rates of return (expected returns, net of plan investment
expense and inflation) are developed for each major asset class. These ranges are combined to produce the
long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future real rates of return by the target asset
allocation percentage and by adding expected inflation. The target allocation and best estimates of arithmetic
real rates of return for each major asset class are summarized as follows:
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Target Allocation
30.5%

Long-Term
Expected Rate of
Return
6.6%

International Equities

15.5%

8.0%

Fixed Income

20.5%

3.8%

Real Estate
Private Equity
Hedge Funds
Real Assets

9.5%
10.0%
11.5%
2.5%

8.2%
9.1%
7.2%
9.9%

Asset Class
Domestic Equity

Total

100.0%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.75%. The projection of cash flows used to
determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at the current contribution
rates and that employer contributions will be made at contractually required rates, actuarially determined.
Under Chapter 32 of MGL, employers are required to make the necessary contributions such that the Plan
reaches full funding status by the year 2040. Based on those assumptions, the Plan's fiduciary net position
was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of current Plan members.
Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on Plan investments was applied to all period of projected
benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate of 7.75%, as well as what
the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is 1-percentage point lower
(6.75%) or 1-percentage point higher (8.75%) higher than the current discount rate:
Current Discount

System's Net Pension liability
County of Norfolk's share

1% Decrease

Rate

1% Increase

(6.75%)

(7.75%)

(8.75%)

$ 762,545,338
$ 39,808,732

$ 587,113,377
$ 30,650,254

$ 438,049,042
$ 22,868,380

2. Special Funding Situation – Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS)
Plan Description
The Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement System (MTRS) is a public employee retirement system (PERS)
that administers a cost-sharing, multi-employer, defined benefit plan, as defined in Governmental
Accounting Standards Board (GASB) Statement No. 67, Financial Reporting for Pension Plans. MTRS is
managed by the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (Commonwealth) on behalf of municipal teachers and
municipal teacher retirees. The MTRS covers certified teachers in cities (except Boston), towns, regional
school districts, charter schools, educational collaboratives, and Quincy College. The MTRS is part of the
Commonwealth’s reporting entity and does not issue a stand-alone audited financial report. Financial
information of the MTRS’ Pension Trust fund financial statements is contained in the Commonwealth’s
Comprehensive Annual Financial Report (CAFR). The Commonwealth’s CAFR may be obtained by
contacting the Comptroller’s office directly at One Ashburton Place #919, Boston, MA 02108. Information
on the MTRS actuarial valuation can be obtained at www.mtrs.state.ma.us.
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Management of MTRS is vested in the Massachusetts Teachers’ Retirement Board (MTRB), which consists
of seven members – two elected by the MTRS members, one who is chosen by the six other MTRB
members, the State Treasurer (or their designee), the State Auditor (or their designee), a member appointed
by the Governor, and the Commissioner of Education (or their designee), who services ex-officio as the
Chairman of the MTRB.
The Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributor and is required by statute to make all actuarially
determined employer contributions on behalf of the member employers. Therefore, these employers,
including the County, are considered to be in a special funding situation as defined by GASB Statement No.
68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions and the Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributing
entity in MTRS. Since the County does not contribute directly to MTRS, there is no net pension liability to
recognize. However, the County is required to disclose the portion of the nonemployer contributing entity’s
(the Commonwealth) share of the collective net pension liability that is associated with the County. In
addition, the County must recognize its portion of the collective pension expense as both a revenue and
pension expense.
Benefits Provided
MTRS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries.
Massachusetts General Laws (MGL) establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all
contributory public employee retirement systems (PERS). These requirements provide for superannuation
retirement allowance benefits up to a maximum of 80% of a member’s highest three-year average annual
rate of regular compensation. For employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated
on the basis of the last five years or any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of
compensation. Benefit payments are based upon a member’s age, length of credible service, and group
creditable service, and group classification. The authority for amending these provisions rests with the
Legislature.
Members become vested after ten years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement allowance may
be received upon the completion of twenty years of creditable service or upon reaching the age of 55 with
ten years of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65. Most employees who joined
the system after April 1, 2012, cannot retire prior to age 60.
The MTRS’ funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The Legislature has the
authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the MTRS retirement allowance is funded by
employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of administering the plan are
funded out of plan assets.
Contributions
Member contributions for MTRS vary depending on the most recent date of membership:
Hire Date
Prior to 1975
1975-1983
1984 to 6/30/1996
7/1/1996 to present
7/1/2001 to present
1979 to present

% of Compensation
5% of regular compensation
7% of regular compensation
8% of regular compensation
9% of regular compensation
11% of regular compensation (for teachers hired after 7/1/01 and
those accepting provisions of Chapter 114 of the Acts of 2000)
An additional 2% of regular compensation in excess of $30,000

Contributions are provided by the Commonwealth on behalf of the County based upon actuarially
determined amounts. The nonemployer contributions made by the Commonwealth to the MTRS on behalf of
the County totaled $1,144,560. The annuity portion of the MTRS retirement is funded by employees,
through contributions of a percentage of their compensation as indicated above.
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Pension Liabilities and Expenses Related to Pensions
The collective net pension liability of the MTRS was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1,
2019, rolled forward to June 30, 2019. The following table illustrates the Plan's net pension liability and the
Commonwealth's proportionate share associated with the County.
Total pension liability
Less: plan fiduciary net position

$54,751,000,000
29,536,980,000

Net pension liability

$25,214,020,000

Plan’s fiduciary net position as a percentage
of total pension liability

53.95%

Commonwealth's proportionate share of collective net pension liability
associated with the County

$

19,989,446

Commonwealth's proportionate share associated with the County as a
percentage of the total net pension liability

0.079%

Commonwealth's proportionate share of pension expense associated
with the County

$

2,424,067

The Commonwealth's contribution on behalf of the County has been included on the Agricultural High
School’s statement of revenues, expense, and fund balance under intergovernmental revenue and employee
benefits and other insurances expenses. In the Statement of Activities, the Commonwealth’s proportionate
share of pension expense is reported as Program Revenue Operating Grant and Contributions and employee
benefits and other insurances expenses. As the net pension liability is a special funding situation, and the
County does not contribute to MTRS, the County does not book a liability in the Statement of Net Position.
Actuarial Assumptions
The calculation used the following assumptions:
1. (a) 7.25% investment rate of return, (b) 3.50% interest rate credited to the annuity
savings fund, and (c) 3.00% cost of living increase on the first $13,000 of
allowance per year.
2. Salary increases are based on analyses of past experience but range from 4.0% to
7.5% depending on length of service.
3. Mortality rates were as follows:


Pre-retirement reflects RP-2014 White Collar Employees Table projected
generationally with Scale MP-2016 (gender distinct).



Post-retirement: reflects RP-2014 White Collar Healthy Annuitant Table
projected generationally with Scale MP-2016 (gender distinct).



Disability: assumed to be in accordance with the RP-2014 White Collar
Healthy Annuitant Table projected generationally with Scale MP-2016
(gender distinct).

4. Experience study was performed as follows:


Dated July 21, 2014 and encompasses the period January 1, 2006 to December
31, 2011.
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Investment assets of the MTRS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (PRIT) Fund. The long-term
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which
best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major asset class. These rates
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighing the expected future rates of
return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of geometric rates of return for each major
asset class included in the PRIT Fund’s target asset allocation as of June 30, 2018 are summarized in the
following table:
Asset Class

Target Allocation

Long-Term Expected Rate of Return

Global Equity

39.0%

4.9%

Core Fixed Income

15.0%

1.3%

Private Equity

13.0%

8.2%

Portfolio Completion Strategies

11.0%

3.9%

Real Estate

10.0%

3.6%

Value Added Fixed Income

8.0%

4.7%

Timberland/Natural Resources

4.0%

4.1%

Total

100.0%

Discount Rate
The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.25% (previously 7.35%). The projection
of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions will be made at
the current contribution rates and the Commonwealth’s contributions will be made at rates equal to the
difference between actuarially determined contribution rates and the member rates. Based on those
assumptions, the net position was projected to be available to make all projected future benefit payments of
current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on pension plan investments was
applied to all period of projected benefit payments to determine the total pension liability.
Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following illustrates the sensitivity of the collective net pension liability to changes in the discount rate.
In particular, the table presents the MTRS collective net pension liability assuming it was calculated using a
single discount rate that is one-percentage-point lower (6.25%) or one-percentage-point higher (8.25%) than
the current discount rate (7.25%) as of June 30, 2019 (amounts in thousands):
1% Decrease

Current Discount
Rate

1% Increase

(6.25%)

(7.25%)

(8.25%)

Total MTRS NPL

$

31,232,100,000

$

25,214,020,000

$

20,062,500,000

NPL allocated to County

$

24,760,497

$

19,989,446

$

15,905,349

B. Compensated Absences
Employees earn vacation and sick leave as they provide services. The cost of vacation and sick leave
benefits is recorded as an expenditure of the applicable fund when incurred. Vacation and sick pay
accumulates for various groups of employees based upon personnel by-laws and their respective collective
bargaining agreements. The cost of vacation and sick leave benefits is recorded when incurred as
expenditure. A liability for accumulated vacation and sick leave payout for eligible employees as of June
30, 2020 of approximately $884,000 has been recorded in the accompanying Statement of Net Position for
governmental activities.
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C. Other Post Employment Benefits
Plan Description
The County administers a single employer defined benefit plan (the Plan) which provides health, dental and
life insurance to substantially all retired employees, beneficiaries, and spouses (plan members). Eligibility to
participate under the County’s plan is generally based upon reaching ten years of service with the County.
The County pays benefits for retired employees, spouses, and beneficiaries on a pay-as-you-go basis. These
benefits are provided for and amended under various provisions of Massachusetts General Law, terms of
collective bargaining agreements and County ordinances. The Plan does not issue separate financial
statements. The County established a separate trust fund pursuant to Massachusetts General Law, which is
included as a fiduciary fund within the County’s financial statements.
Funding Policy and Contributions
The contribution rates of retirees are established by collective-bargaining agreements, Massachusetts
General Law, and County ordinances. The required contribution is based on pay as you go financing
requirements. The County contributes at least 70% of the insurance premiums with the remainder funded
through pension benefit deductions. The Plan has approximately 322 active participants and 178 retired and
beneficiary participants. The County has not adopted a specific funding policy in accordance with the
actuarial valuation.
Long-term Expected Real Rate of Return
The long-term expected real rate of return reflects the expected rate of return on plan assets adjusted for the
expected rate of inflation. Note the discount rate includes the effect of inflation. The long-term real rate of
return removes the effect of inflation on the return amounts. It is a long-term assumption and is meant to
reflect a reasonable estimate of future experience, based on the expected asset allocation. The real rates of
return below are based on 30-year return estimates from the New England Pension Consultants (NEPC)
adjusted for inflation at NEPC’s inflation assumption of 2.50%.
Asset
Class
US Equity
International equity
Fixed income
Alternatives
Cash and cash equivalents

Target
Allocation
36.0%
4.0%
50.0%
5.0%
5.0%

Long-term
Expected Real
Rate of Return
4.3%
4.4%
1.0%
2.4%
-0.1%

GASB Statements 74 and 75
In accordance with GASB 75, the County (the employer) recognizes a net OPEB liability measured as the
portion of the actuarial present value of the projected benefit payments that is attributable to past periods of
employee service, net of the OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position. The net OPEB liability is recognized as of
the measurement date. The County’s most recent actuarial valuation was performed using a measurement
date of June 30, 2020 for the reporting period of June 30, 2020. GASB Statement 74 addresses reporting
requirements of the Plan as of the end of its fiscal year June 30, 2020. Additional information associated
with the actuarial valuation report can be obtained by contacting the County directly.
Net OPEB Liability and OPEB Expense
The components of the net OPEB liability of the County and the significant actuarial assumptions are as
follows:
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Total OPEB
Liability
Balance June 30, 2019
Service cost
Interest on total OPEB liability
service cost, and benefit payments
Net investment income
Employer contributions to the Trust
Changes of assumptions
Benefit payments (including implicit costs)

$

$

1,381,546

Net OPEB
Liability
$

1,922,631

$

10,225,835
(1,959,767)

(1,959,767)

11,352,138

296,625

57,054,764

$

Net OPEB expense:
Service cost
Interest on total OPEB liability
service cost, and benefit payments
Differences between expected
and actual experience
Changes in assumptions
Projected earnings
Differences between Projected and
Actual Earnings
Total net OPEB expense

1,678,171

$

44,321,080
1,163,439
1,922,631
(21,625)
(2,234,767)
10,225,835

21,625
2,234,767

Net changes
Balance June 30, 2020

45,702,626
1,163,439

Plan Fiduciary
Net Position

11,055,513
$

55,376,593

1,163,439
1,922,631
(459,676)
3,497,653
(63,648)

$

8,058
6,068,457

Actuarial Methods and Assumptions
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions
about the probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future
employment, mortality, and the healthcare cost trend. Projections of the benefits for financial reporting
purposes are based on the substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members)
and include the types of benefits provided at the time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing
of benefit costs between employer and plan members to that point. The actuarial methods and assumptions
used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial accrued
liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.
The following are the significant actuarial methods and assumptions associated with the Plan:
Actuarial valuation date: January 1, 2019
Measurement date:

June 30, 2020

Actuarial cost method:

Individual Entry Age Normal

Asset Valuation Method:

Market value of assets as of the measurement date, June 30, 2020

Investment Rate of Return:

2.74%, net of investment expenses

Discount Rate:

2.74% (previously 4.19%)
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Municipal Bond Rate:

2.21% as of June 30, 2020 (previously 3.50%)
(20-year Municipal General Obligation bonds as shown in the
Bond Buyer 20 Bond Index)

Inflation:

2.50% as of June 30, 2020

Salary Increases:

4.00% annually as of June 30, 2020

Cost of Living Adjustment:

Not applicable

Participation Rate:

It was assumed that 90% of active employees eligible to receive
benefits would enroll in the retiree medical plans upon
retirement.

Pre-Retirement Mortality:

The RP-2014 Mortality Tables adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for
employees using generational mortality and scale MP-2019.

Post-Retirement Mortality:

The RP-2014 Mortality Tables adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for
Healthy Annuitants projected using generational mortality and
scale MP-2019.

Disabled Mortality:

The RP-2014 Mortality Tables adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for
Healthy Annuitants projected using generational mortality and
scale MP-2019. Set forward two years.

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County’s net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-percentage point lower (1.74%) or
one-percentage-point higher (3.74%) than the current discount rate (2.74%):
(2.74%)
Current
Discount Rate

(1.74%)
1% Decrease
Net OPEB Liability

$

64,694,503

$

55,376,593

(3.74%)
1% Increase
$

47,954,074

Sensitivity of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare Cost Trend Rates
The following presents the net OPEB liability of the County, as well as what the County’s net OPEB
liability would be if it were calculated using healthcare cost trend rates that are one-percentage-point lower
and one-percentage-point higher than the current healthcare cost trend rates:
Net OPEB Liability

1% Decrease
$ 46,816,154

Base Trend Rate
$
55,376,593

1% Increase
$ 66,467,675

NOTE 14. RISK MANAGEMENT
The County is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts, theft of, damage to, and destruction of assets;
errors and omissions, injuries to employees and natural disasters. The County remains self-insured for all
worker’s compensation claims incurred prior to July 1, 2014 (Note 12). The County is a member of the
Mayflower Municipal Health Group (the Group), a joint purchasing group established under MGL Chapter
32B, Section 12. The County carries commercial insurance for all other risks.
Prior to joining the Mayflower Municipal Health Group (January 31, 2011), the County’s benefit Plan,
originally organized under Chapter 32B, Section 11. the Plan was operated by the County and accounted for
in its internal service fund in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The County
Commissioners had oversight responsibility of the Plan and the County Treasurer was the custodian thereof.
At June 30, 2020, $65,742 was maintained in the fund, pending final disposition.
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The Mayflower Municipal Health Group (Group) maintains reinsurance for claims in excess of $300,000 per
person annually, to a lifetime maximum of $2,000,000. The County pays monthly premiums to the Group.
The County’s costs for health and dental insurance for active and retired employees and beneficiaries for
fiscal year 2020 on the pay-as-you-go basis was approximately $3.8 million. The Group reported Net
Position of $34.7 million (audited) at June 30, 2020. Additional information and financial statements for the
Group may be obtained by contacting the Group’s treasurer directly at: Mayflower Municipal Health Group,
P.O. Box 3390, Plymouth, MA 02361.
NOTE 15. COUNTY SHERIFF DEPARTMENT UNFUNDED PENSION LIABILITY
Chapter 61 of the Acts of 2009, effective January 1, 2010, transferred all then remaining Massachusetts
County Sheriff’s Departments (including Norfolk County’s) to the Commonwealth of Massachusetts.
Pursuant to this legislation, the Commonwealth assumed all assets and obligations of the Sheriff’s
Departments, except that affected counties were obligated to contribute towards unfunded pension liabilities
with respect to Department employees retired before the transfer date. For Norfolk County, the assessment
amount is reflected in an amortization schedule running through FY 2031.
In July, 2014, the State legislature enacted additional legislation, which became law as Chapter 191 of 2014,
under which the County is authorized to retain annually an additional share of County Deeds Excise Tax
receipts (otherwise payable to the State General Fund), to be used to fund payment of the amortization, for
amounts previously due through 2014. The additional amount to be retained is authorized annually between
the State Executive Office of Administration and Finance.
In December of 2019, by this agreement, the County was authorized to retained and paid approximately $1.8
million towards the amortization schedule. As of June 30, 2020, the balance remaining associated with these
amortization schedules and expected to be authorized to be retained from annual deeds excise receipts
toward this unfunded obligation, was approximately $21.9 million.
NOTE 16. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
The County is named as a defendant in several lawsuits at June 30, 2020. In the opinion of County
management, the ultimate resolution of these legal actions will not result in a material loss to the County.
The County maintains several ongoing contractual arrangements for various operation of the County,
including pupil transportation at the Agricultural High School, among others.
Amounts received or receivable from grantor agencies are subject to audit and adjustment by grantor
agencies, principally the federal and state governments. Any disallowed claims, including amounts already
collected, may constitute a liability of the applicable funds. The amount, if any, of expenditures which may
be disallowed by the grantor cannot be determined at this time although the County expects such amounts, if
any, to be immaterial.
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NOTE 17. RESTATED BEGINNING BALANCES
The following beginning balances have been restated for misstatements from the prior year and major fund
reclassifications.
Governmental funds:

Fund Balance, reported June 30, 2019
Restatements:
Sheriff department unfunded liability
Transfer to OPEB Trust fund
Understated salaries payable
Reclassification
Amount reported in agency
Net restatement *

General Fund
$ 3,137,723

Agricultural
High
High School
$
1,117,430

Agricultural
High School
Building
Project
$ (35,721)

Deeds
Excise
$

Other
Governmental
Funds
$ 6,184,789

1,911,148
(275,000)

481,797
2,117,945

(435,752)
23,812

(23,812)

(411,940)

(23,812)

Major fund reclassifications,
July 1, 2019

(4,744,203)

4,744,203

Fund Balance, restated July 1, 2019

$

5,255,668

$

705,490

$

(59,533)

$ 4,744,203

$

1,440,586

*The net aggregate effect of the misstatements in the governmental funds detailed above is $1,682,193.
Governmental activities:
Net position, reported June 30, 2019
Restatements:
Aggregate misstatements governmental funds *
Adjustment for overstated estimated
worker's compensation liability
Net restatement
Net position, restated July 1, 2019

$

(35,037,453)
1,682,193

$

510,704
2,192,897
(32,844,556)

$

1,077,505

$

275,000
29,041
304,041
1,381,546

Fiduciary funds - OPEB Trust fund:
Net position, reported June 30, 2019
Restatements:
Transfer to OPEB Trust fund
Market value adjustment
Net restatement
Net position, restated July 1, 2019

NOTE 18. IMPLEMENTATION OF GASB PRONOUNCEMENTS
The following are pronouncements issued by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board
(GASB), which are applicable to the District’s financial statements:
Current pronouncements
The GASB issued Statement No. 95, Postponement of the Effective Dates of Certain Authoritative
Guidance, which postponed the effective implementation dates of certain pronouncements as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic, as follows:


The effective dates of certain provisions contained in the following pronouncements are
postponed by one year: GASB Statements No. 83, No. 84, No. 88, No. 89, No. 90, No. 91,
No. 92, and No. 93 and Implementation Guides No. 2018-1, No. 2019-1, and No. 2019-2.
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The effective dates of the following pronouncements are postponed by eighteen months:
GASB Statement No. 87 and Implementation Guide No. 2019-3.

Future pronouncements
The GASB issued Statement No. 84, Fiduciary Activities, which is required to be implemented in
fiscal year 2021, as amended by GASB Statement No. 95. This pronouncement establishes criteria
for identifying fiduciary activities and its objective is to improve guidance regarding the
identification of fiduciary activities for accounting and financial reporting purposes and how those
activities should be reported. The County expects to implement the pronouncement as applicable.
The GASB issued Statement No. 87, Leases, which is required to be implemented in fiscal year
2022, as amended by GASB Statement No. 95. This pronouncement increases the usefulness of
governments’ financial statements by requiring recognition of certain lease assets and liabilities for
leases that previously were classified as operating leases and recognized as inflows of resources or
outflows of resources based on the payment provisions of the contract. The County expects to
implement the pronouncement as applicable.
The GASB issued Statement No. 89, Accounting for Interest Cost Incurred Before the End of a
Construction Period, which is required to be implemented in fiscal year 2022, as amended by
GASB Statement No. 95. This pronouncement improves financial reporting by providing users of
financial statements with more relevant information about capital assets and the cost of borrowing
for a reporting period. Additionally, it will enhance the comparability of information about capital
assets and the cost of borrowing for a reporting period. The County will evaluate the applicability of
this pronouncement upon implementation.
The GASB issued Statement No. 90, Majority Equity Interests – an Amendment of GASB Statements
No. 14 and No. 61, which is required to be implemented in fiscal year 2021, as amended by GASB
Statement No. 95. This pronouncement improves the consistency and comparability of reporting a
government’s majority interest in a legally separate organization and improves the relevance of
financial statement reporting for certain component units. The County doesn’t expect this
pronouncement to be applicable.
The GASB issued Statement No. 91, Conduit Debt Obligations, which is required to be
implemented in fiscal year 2023, as amended by GASB Statement No. 95. This pronouncement
improves financial reporting by providing a single method of reporting conduit debt obligations by
issuers and eliminating diversity in practice associated with (1) commitments extended by issuers,
(2) arrangements associated with conduit debt obligations, and (3) related note disclosures. The
County will evaluate the applicability of this pronouncement upon implementation.
The GASB issued Statement No. 92, Omnibus 2020, which is generally required to be implemented
in fiscal year 2023, as amended by GASB Statement No. 95. This pronouncement addresses a
variety of topics and includes specific provisions of previously issued pronouncements. The County
will evaluate the applicability of this pronouncement upon implementation.
NOTE 19. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
Management of the County of Norfolk has evaluated subsequent events through December 15,2021, the date
of which the financial statements were available to be issued. Management has reported the following events
which occurred subsequent to year end.




County awarded $137,000,000 in funding pursuant to the American Recovery Plan Act (ARPA).
The County anticipates administering these funds for eligible costs of county member communities.
The Agricultural High School received approximately $81,672.35 in federal and state pandemic
related funding in fiscal year 2021 and an additional $75,896.92 in fiscal year 2022.
The County incurred temporary borrowings of $1,000,000 in June 2021 – which was rolled to
October 2021. Final bonding of approximately $3,000,000 planned for January 2022.
*********
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[UNAUDITED]

Original
Budget
Revenues
County taxes
Courthouse rent
Registry fees and transactions
Wollaston Recreational Facility receipts
Other

$

Total revenues

6,463,339
4,215,300
2,400,000
1,350,162
490,000
14,918,801

Final
Budget
$

6,463,339
4,215,300
2,400,000
1,350,162
512,053

Actual
$

6,460,264
4,172,209
2,938,815
1,131,258
282,380

Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
(Negative)
$

(3,075)
(43,091)
538,815
(218,904)
(229,673)

14,940,854

14,984,926

44,072

1,788,889
467,797
539,964
3,500,705
4,531,924

2,155,153
511,046
654,622
3,437,117
4,437,876

1,632,667
483,095
503,460
3,047,607
3,788,995

522,486
27,951
151,162
389,510
648,881

1,311,317
4,284,414
93,600
40,500
16,559,110

1,296,895
4,310,504
70,025
40,500
16,913,738

1,164,633
4,396,231
39,838
40,500
15,097,026

132,262
(85,727)
30,187

Revenues over (under) expenditures

(1,640,309)

(1,972,884)

(112,100)

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in from other funds
Transfers out to other funds
Total other financing sources (uses)

4,110,000
(3,987,587)
122,413

4,110,000
(3,987,587)
122,413

4,884,908
(4,040,547)
844,361

Revenues and other financing sources over
(under) expenditures and other financing uses

(1,517,896)

(1,850,471)

630,000
887,896
1,517,896

1,212,334
638,137
1,850,471

Expenditures
County Commissioners and Information Technology
County Treasurer
Engineering
Maintenance and operations
Registry of Deeds
Wollaston Recreational Facility
Employee benefits and other costs
Other
Debt service
Total expenditures

Other budget items
Use of available fund balance
Carryover encumbrances
Total other budget items
Net budget

$

.

$

$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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732,261

1,816,712
1,860,784

774,908
(52,960)
721,948
$

2,582,732

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Budgetary Comparison Schedule - Major Special Revenue Fund- Agricultural High School
For the Year Ended June 30, 2020
[UNAUDITED]

Original
Budget
Revenues
Tuitions
Intergovernmental
Other
Total revenues

$

7,292,585
1,551,721
1,225,250
10,069,556

Final
Budget
$

7,292,585
1,551,721
1,225,250
10,069,556

Actual
$

7,008,298
1,630,527
440,758
9,079,583

Variance with
Final Budget
Positive
(Negative)
$

(284,287)
78,806
(784,492)
(989,973)

Expenditures
Personnel services
Contractual services
Supplies and materials
Current charges and obligations
Equipment
Debt service
Employee benefits and other indirect costs
Total expenditures

8,339,778
1,479,947
620,464
176,843
109,746
806,619
2,742,062
14,275,459

8,360,223
1,448,242
611,458
176,441
109,217
806,619
2,742,062
14,254,262

8,157,186
1,274,077
442,997
131,375
49,611
806,619
2,742,062
13,603,927

203,037
174,165
168,461
45,066
59,606

Revenues over (under) expenditures

(4,205,903)

(4,184,706)

(4,524,344)

(339,638)

Other financing sources (uses)
Transfers in from other funds
Transfers out to other funds
Total other financing sources

3,987,587
(10,000)
3,977,587

3,987,587
(10,000)
3,977,587

4,117,587

130,000
(10,000)
120,000

(228,316)

(207,119)

200,925
27,391
228,316

200,970
6,149
207,119

Revenues and other financing sources over
(under) expenditures and other financing uses

Other budget items
Use of available fund balance
Carryover encumbrances
Total other budget items
Net budget

$

4,117,587
$

$

See Independent Auditor's Report.
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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(406,757)

650,335

(219,638)
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Budgetary basis of accounting
The budgets for all departments and operations of the County are prepared under the direction of the County
Commissioners and the final approval of the County Advisory Board. All general fund functions are budgeted; the
County does not have legally adopted annual budgets for its special revenue funds, with the exception of the
Agricultural High School. Budgets for various special revenue funds utilized to account for specific grant programs
are established in accordance with the requirements of the Commonwealth or other grantor agencies.
Budgets are prepared on a basis other than accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America
(GAAP). The “actual” results column of the Budgetary Comparison Schedules, are presented on a “budget basis” to
provide a meaningful comparison with the budget. A reconciliation of the budgetary-basis to GAAP-basis results
for the General Fund and the Agricultural High School, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2020, is presented below:
Other
General Fund

Financing
Revenue

As reported on Budgetary basis

$

Stabilization fund interest income

14,984,926

Expenditures
$

15,097,026

Sources(Uses)
$

844,361

55,548

Registry on-line fees

166,588

(166,588)

Sheriff's department unfunded liability pass-through

1,865,045

1,865,045

Registry's current year share of deeds excise

(1,674,506)

(1,674,506)

Timing effect prior year accruals

(183,921)

As reported on GAAP basis

$

15,207,062

$

15,103,644

$

868,312

Other
Agricultural High School

Financing
Revenue

As reported on Budgetary basis

$

State on-behalf payment teachers' pension contribution

$

1,144,560

Timing effect of accruals
As reported on GAAP basis

9,079,583

10,194,142

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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13,603,927

$

4,117,587

$

4,117,587

1,144,560

(30,001)
$

Sources(Uses)

Expenditures

22,469
$

14,770,956

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the County's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
[Unaudited]
Valuation date:
For the Reporting Period & Fiscal Year ending on:
Total OPEB liability
Service cost
Interest
Differences between expected and actual experience
Changes of assumptions
Benefits payments

June 30, 2019
June 30, 2020

10,225,835
(1,959,767)

1,037,000
2,156,000
(1,407,000)
2,368,000
(1,956,000)

Net change in total OPEB liability

11,352,138

2,198,000

Total OPEB liability - beginning

45,702,626

43,503,000

Total OPEB liability - ending (a)

$

1,163,439
1,922,631

June 30, 2018
June 30, 2019

$

June 30, 2016
June 30, 2018

$

1,106,000
2,049,000

June 30, 2016
June 30, 2017

$

(2,244,000)
(1,888,000)

1,071,000
1,992,000

(1,824,000)

(977,000)

1,239,000

44,480,000

43,241,000

$

57,054,764

$

45,701,000

$

43,503,000

$

44,480,000

$

2,234,767
21,625
(1,959,767)

$

2,231,000
44,000
(1,956,000)

$

2,163,000
41,000
(1,888,000)

$

2,049,000
38,000
(1,824,000)

Plan fiduciary net position
Contributions - employer
Net investment income
Benefit payments
Net change in fiduciary net position

296,625

319,000

316,000

263,000

Plan fiduciary net position - beginning

1,381,546

1,063,000

747,000

484,000

Plan fiduciary net position - ending (b)

1,678,171

1,382,000

1,063,000

747,000

Town's net OPEB liability - ending (a-b)

$

55,376,593

$

44,319,000

$

42,440,000

$

43,733,000

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage
of the total OPEB liability
Covered employee payroll
County's net OPEB liability as a percentage
of covered-employee payroll

$

2.94%
14,597,000

$

3.02%
14,269,000

$

2.44%
13,888,000

$

1.68%
12,778,000

379.37%

310.60%

305.59%

342.25%

Notes to Schedule
• The amounts for the reporting period and fiscal year ending June 30, 2019 and prior are rounded. Effective for June 30, 2020 actuals are reported.
The assumption change of $10,225,835 is due to a change in the discount rate from 4.19% to 2.74$. This is attributable to changes in both the long-term rate of return assumption and the
municipal bond rate used for depletion analysis.
• The expected long-term rate of return on trust assets was lowered from 6.50% to 6.00%.
• The municipal bond rate was lowered from 3.50% to 2.21% as of June 30, 2020.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Changes in the County's Net OPEB Liability and Related Ratios
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
[Unaudited]
Notes to Schedule (continued)
• The following are significant actuarial methods and assumptions associated with the Plan:
Valuation date:

January 1, 2019

Measurement date:

June 30, 2020

Actuarial cost method:

Individual Entry Age Normal

Plan membership:

322 active and 178 retired and beneficiary participants

Asset valuation method:

Market value of assets as of the measurement date, June 30, 2020

Investment rate of return:

2.74%, net of investment expenses

Discount rate:

2.74% (previously 4.19%)

Municipal bond rate:
Inflation:

2.21% as of June 30, 2020 (previously 3.50%)
(20-year Municipal General Obligations bonds as shown in the Bond Buyer 20 Bond Index)
2.50% as of June 30, 2020

Salary increases:

4.00% annually as of June 30, 2020

Cost of living adjustment:

Not applicable

Participation rate:

90% of active employees eligible to receive benefits would enroll upon retirement

Mortality:

Pre-retirement - RP-2014 Mortality Table adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for employees
using generational mortality and scale MP-2019.
Post-retirement - RP-2014 Mortality Table adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for Healthy
Annuitants projected using generational mortality and scale MP-2019.
Disabled - RP-2014 Mortality Table adjusted to 2006, sex-distinct, for Healthy
Annuitants projected using generational mortality and scale MP-2019.
Set forward two years.

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10 year trend is compiled, the County will present information for those
years which information is available.
See Independent Auditor's Report.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the County's Contributions - Other Postemployment Benefits Plan
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
[Unaudited]

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)
For the fiscal year ending:

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2019

June 30, 2018

Actuarially Determined Contribution (ADC)

N/A

N/A

$

2,541

N/A

Contributions in relation to the
actuarially determined contribution

N/A

N/A

$

(2,163)

N/A

Contribution deficiency (excess)

N/A

N/A

$

378

June 30, 2017

N/A

Notes to Schedule
• There is no requirement that an actuarially determined contribution (ADC) be calculated. There is no statutory ADC, and Norfolk County is currently not funding the
OPEB liability on an actuarial basis. Therefore, an ADC has not been calculated for Fiscal 2020.

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the County will present information for those years
which information is available.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of Investment Returns - Other Postemployment Benefits Plan
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
[Unaudited]
Schedule of Investment Returns
For the fiscal year ending:
Annual money-weighted rate of return,
net of investment expense

June 30, 2020

June 30, 2019

June 30, 2018

June 30, 2017

1.48%

4.12%

4.07%

5.58%

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the County will present
information for those years which information is available.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the County's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liabilities and Pension Plan Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
Norfolk County Retirement System
The Norfolk County Retirement System (the System) is a multiple-employer, cost-sharing, contributory defined benefit pension plan covering all eligible employees of the
governmental member units deemed eligible by the Norfolk County Retirement Board (the Board), with exception of school department employees who serve in a teaching
capacity. Based upon the actuarial valuation date of the System as of December 31, 20XX the following is presented:
2019
County's proportion of the net pension liability

2018
5.22%

2017
5.18%

2016
3.24%

2015
3.30%

2014
3.30%

3.71%

System's proportionate share of the net pension
liability associated with the County

$

30,650,254

$

33,712,854

$

17,938,186

$

17,238,248

$

17,938,186

$

19,232,617

County's covered payroll (approximate)

$

9,585,000

$

15,498,212

$

9,378,580

$

9,229,319

$

12,237,000

$

8,225,942

County's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered payroll
Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability
Actuarially determined contribution**
Contributions in relation to the actuarial determined
contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

$

319.77%

217.53%

191.27%

186.78%

146.59%

233.80%

64.6%

58.3%

63.5%

61.6%

58.6%

60.1%

3,910,135

$

3,623,165

$

$

(623,165)
3,000,000

$

(3,910,135)
$
40.79%

3,386,923

$

(3,386,923)

23.38%

3,321,523
(3,321,523)

$
36.11%

$

3,056,908

$

(3,056,908)
$

35.99%

2,920,654
(2,920,654)

$
24.98%

35.51%

Notes to Schedule:
Changes of Assumptions:
• Effective December 31, 2019:
The cost of living adjustment assumption was updated from 3.0% of the first $17,000 of retirement income to 3.0% of the first $18,000 of income.
• Effective December 31, 2018:
Discount rate is 7.75%; previously 8.0%
*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the County will present information for those years which
information is available.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
Required Supplementary Information
Schedule of the County's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension Liabilities and Pension Plan Contributions
Last Ten Fiscal Years*
Special Funding Situation - Massachusetts Teachers' Retirement System
The Commonwealth of Massachusetts is a nonemployer contributing entity and is required by statute to make all actuarially determined employer contributions on behalf of the member employers.
Therefore, these employers are considered to be in a special funding situation as defined by GASB and the Commonwealth is a nonemployer contributing entity in the Massachusetts Teachers'
Retirement System (MTRS) (the Plan). Since the County does not contribute directly to the MTRS, there is no net pension liability to recognize. Based upon the actuarial valuations of the Plan for the
year ended June 30, 20XX, the following is presented:
2019
0.07927909%

County's proportion of the net pension liability
Commonwealth's proportionate share of the net pension
liability associated with the County

$

19,989,446

County's covered payroll (approximate)

$

5,700,000

County's proportionate share of the net pension liability
as a percentage of its covered payroll

28.52%

Plan fiduciary net position as a percentage of the total
pension liability

53.95%

Actuarially determined contribution
Contributions in relation to the actuarial determined
contribution
Contribution deficiency (excess)
Contributions as a percentage of covered payroll

$

1,144,560

2018
0.07597459%

$

$

16,790,399

2016
0.07256701%

$

16,224,479

2015
0.07135094%

$

14,619,552

2014
0.06939310%

$

11,030,973

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

not reported

998,901

54.25%
$

(998,901)
$

20.10%

$

54.84%

(1,144,560)
$

18,014,554

2017
0.07336732%

906,464

$

(906,464)
$

not reported

52.73%
816,076

$

(816,076)
$

not reported

55.38%
729,157

$

(729,157)
$

not reported

61.64%
650,477
(650,477)
$

not reported

not reported

Notes to Schedule:
Changes of Assumptions:
• Effective June 30, 2019:
Discount rate is 7.25%; previously 7.35%
• Effective June 30, 2018:
Discount rate is 7.35%; previously 7.5%
• Effective June 30, 2015:
Discount rate is 7.5%; previously 8.0%

*This schedule is presented to illustrate the requirement to show information for 10 years. However, until a full 10-year trend is compiled, the County will present information for those years which
information is available.

See Independent Auditor's Report.
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REPORT IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT
AUDITING STANDARDS

COUNTY OF NORFOLK, MASSACHUSETTS
SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS & RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
The following findings noted below associated with the financial activities of the County, highlight deficiencies,
which are considered to be material weaknesses in internal control over financial reporting, compliance and other
matters for the year ended June 30, 2020. The County conducted an operational review with a third-party consultant
during fiscal year 2021. The County anticipated the implementation of certain formalized policies and procedures to
become effective for fiscal year 2022. The issue noted in Finding 2020-001 has been reported as a deficiency in the
previous years.
Material weakness
2020-001 Maintenance of Financial Reporting Systems
The County doesn’t fully utilize the computerized accounting/financial management system and relies heavily upon
a decentralized reporting system (i.e., Excel spreadsheets workbooks) to maintain overall financial reporting. The
County’s significant daily transactions (receipts, payroll, vendor expenditures, and appropriations) are processed
through the computerized accounting/financial management system. Financial activity is posted directly into these
spreadsheets/worksheets from monthly reports generated from the financial management system. The decentralized
accounting is maintained primarily by one individual. The maintenance of decentralized systems, not only duplicate
efforts, but increase the possibility of errors, and misstatements (intentional or otherwise). Financial reporting
processes (inclusive of budgetary monitoring, etc.) should ensure that all financial activity is processed and
maintained within computerized financial management/reporting system which allows for meaningful financial
reports which can be generated through the normal workflows and processes of the County, to ensure errors and
misstatements can be “prevented, detected and corrected on a timely basis”. Moreover, County management should
ensure all financial reporting (inclusive of annual financial statements drafted as part of the annual audit) are
reviewed. Based upon our current year audit, we proposed material adjustments to restate certain opening net position
and fund balances.
View of responsible official and planned corrective action:
The County currently utilizes a centralized and computerized financial reporting system, which provides accurate and
meaningful financial reports, incorporates controls and identifies corrective action, as necessary.
In September of 2020, the County contracted with The Abrahams Group to conduct a review of the County’s financial
and operational management and to assist the County with establishing financial policies and methods for budgetary
forecasting.
Based on the review, the County plans to implement a number of recommendations, including the adoption of formal
policies in order to strengthen the County’s financial management operations. The financial policies will reinforce
internal controls to ensure any errors are corrected in a timely manner
Material weakness
2020-002 Monitoring of financial activity/obligations and compliance with laws and regulations
The issues surrounding the County’s funding of Registry of Deeds expenditures and the Norfolk County Sheriff
Department Unfunded Liability, as detailed in our Independent Auditor’s Report, paragraph “Basis for Qualified
Opinion on the General Fund and Deeds Excise Fund”, in our professional judgement, represent the need for the
County to implement more formalized procedures/methodologies surrounding overall monitoring of financial
obligations and compliance with laws and regulations, taken in the aggregate. In addition, we noted the County did
not monitor the maintenance of General Fund undesignated fund balance on June 30, 2020 in accordance with
provisions of Massachusetts General Law, and the County’s overall budgetary processes and overall intent and
options available to the Advisory Board in a timely manner.
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SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS & RESPONSES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2020
View of responsible official and planned corrective action:
The County has appropriate procedures in place and is in the process of further implementing formal policies, to
monitor the County’s financial obligations and compliance with Massachusetts laws and regulations. Massachusetts
law requires the County to adopt a budget approved by the Commissioners and the Advisory Board. The
Commissioners present the recommended budget to the Advisory Board and the Advisory Board has the authority to
approve, amend or reject the budget or any line item. Pursuant to M.G.L.A. 35 Section 28B, the Advisory Board may
increase, decrease, alter and revise the proposed budget and any supplementary budgets in accordance with
Massachusetts law.
Deeds Excise Funds
As previously indicated, during fiscal year 2020, the County corrected what was deemed an erroneous interpretation
of calculation of the County mandate of funding Registry of Deeds expenditures. Accordingly, based upon fiscal year
2019 total expenditures of $5,054,341 (inclusive of indirect costs), and applying the Registry’s allocated share of
deeds excise revenues of $1,701,734, the balance of $3,352,607 would be the starting point of the calculation for the
102.5% increase of County (non-deeds) related funding for fiscal year 2020. This amount ($3,352,607) times 1.025
(or 102.5%) equals $3,436,422. Total Registry of Deeds expenditures for fiscal year 2020 (inclusive of indirect costs)
were $4,913,656. This amount ($4,913,656) less the Registry’s share of deeds excise revenue for fiscal year 2020 of
$1,674,506 equals a remaining balance of $3,239,150. Accordingly, the mandate was deficient by approximately
$197,272 (the difference between $3,436,422 (calculated) and the $3,239,150 (actual). Based upon information
provided by the County, based solely upon fiscal year 2019 departmental expenditures (excluding indirect costs), of
$3,747,530 times 1.025 (or 102.5%) equals $3,841,218. Fiscal year 2020 departmental expenditures (excluding
indirect costs) were $3,558,791. The difference between these amounts is a deficiency of $282,427. Clearly based
upon either methodology (aggregate or departmental only), a deficiency in the required mandate occurs. While
various legal representations have been obtained regarding the language of the statutes and interpretations thereof, in
our professional judgement, clearly, the officials and management of the County need to reach consensus on the
interpretations and methodologies to be used in the budgeting and budgeting monitoring process. We have reported
a qualification in the County’s General Fund and Deeds Excise fund related to this issue.
View of responsible official and planned corrective action:
M.G.L.A. 64D Section 12(b) requires, with respect to funds appropriated for the purpose of the Registry’s automation,
modernization and operation (and which are not dedicated to the Deeds Excise Fund under a separate statute), the
County to, each year when drafting the budget, include a continuing amount of expenditure of not less than 102.5%
of the amount expended on automation, modernization and operation of the Registry in the preceding fiscal year.
In 2019, the Registry’s expenditures were $3,747,529.63. The County approved a fiscal year 2020 budget
appropriation in the amount of $4,248,759.81. The amount required by the above referenced mandate was
$3,841,286.55. In 2020, the Registry spent $3,558,790.62 ($689,967 below the initial budget appropriation).
For some years, the County over-appropriated funds to the Registry, based on an erroneous interpretation of Section
12(b), to equal 102.5% of the prior year appropriation as opposed to expenditures, as required by the statute, which
appropriations included amounts related to salaries that were not needed due to vacant positions. This resulted in the
Registry amassing a cash balance of $4.5 million in their Deeds account.
Under M.G.L.A. 64D Section 12(a), not less than 40% of the amount deposited in the County Deeds Excise Fund,
which represents the 10.625% of deeds excise taxes collected pursuant a separate statute, shall be expended for the
automation, modernization and operation of the Registry. Amounts collected related to this 40% are used, first, to
reimburse the County for indirect costs of the Registry, and second, remaining amounts are then used to cover the
Registry’s expenses for the year. This approach reduces the amount of County funds needed to cover the Registry’s
expenses.
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As previously stated, the Registry’s expenses for fiscal year 2020 were $3,558,791, plus indirect expenses of
$1,354,864.86 (actual indirect expenses were $1,636,103, but $281,238.14 of that amount was paid from a separate
Registry fund), which totaled $4,913,655.48. The Registry’s share of deeds excise revenue for fiscal year 2020 was
$1,674,505.82, which reduced Registry expenses to $3,239,149.66. Accordingly, the amount appropriated in the fiscal
year 2020 second supplemental budget exceeded 102.5% of the Registry’s fiscal year 2020 expenditures.
Further, the auditor considers expenses related to the Registry on a modified accrual basis of accounting, which may
reflect expenses paid after the County’s fiscal year end. However, the requirement in Section 12(b) relates to
appropriating a certain amount for the Registry in the County’s budget. Cash basis of accounting may be used for
budgetary purposes. Discrepancies between generally accepted accounting principles and the budgetary basis of
accounting may occur when statutes governing the budget process differ from generally accepted accounting
principles.
The County does not expect this finding to be reiterated in subsequent audited financial statements since the action
taken by the Advisory Board was corrective as necessary for fiscal year 2020. The auditor’s finding is limited to its
review of Section 12(b) and does not take in to account the discretion of the Advisory Board under M.G.L.A. 35
Section 28B.
Norfolk County Sheriff Department Unfunded Liability
As previously indicated, annually, only upon authorization and agreement, the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
allows the County to retain an additional amount of deeds excise receipts which is to be used solely for the purpose
of funding amounts pursuant to the amortization schedule associated with the unfunded liability established pursuant
to the Acts of 2014. The annual amount which is allowed to be retained includes an additional 10%, of the aggregate
due for the years 2010 through 2014 while the current legislation was negotiated. The County retains and pays the
annual deeds excise amount to the retirement system on an annual basis; however, it appears an accounting and
reconciliation between the County and the retirement system for these payments has not been completed to ensure all
amounts are properly accounted for in accordance with the statute and the County’s budget process, including any
amounts related to interest. As a result of our audit procedures, the County provided information which seems to
indicate approximately $1.1 million (aggregate) of the amount allowed to be retained pursuant to agreement has been
paid to the retirement system toward interest. Based upon available information, there has been no ongoing evaluation
of amounts expected pursuant to the unfunded liability amortization schedules, and amounts being paid to the
retirement system. This includes the assessment and calculation thereof, and consideration overall of the use of these
funds for interest which has not been appropriated by the County budgetary processes. Accordingly, we have reported
a qualification in the General Fund for this obligation.
View of responsible official and planned corrective action:
The County retains and transfers the above-referenced annual deeds excise amount to the retirement system on an
annual basis and such amounts are properly accounted for in accordance with Massachusetts law and the County’s
budget process, including such amounts related to interest.
An adequate accounting for these payments is available and the County has furnished such information to the auditor.
The County will obtain such requisite information as needed from the retirement system on an on-going basis to
continue to monitor and reconcile the payments associated with this obligation.
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Maintenance of General Fund - Fund Balance
Pursuant to Massachusetts General Law (Chapter 35, Section 30), in preparation of the budget and associated county
tax, “so far as the money therefore is to be raised by taxation, and deducting therefrom the probable receipts from
all sources, except loans, and so much of the unexpended balance from the county treasury at the closing of the
treasurer’s books for the previous fiscal year as is in excess of 10% of the levy for said year; provided, however, that
the county commissioners shall deduct the unexpended balance from the previous fiscal year from the tax voted by
the county commissioners and approved by the advisory board prior to the apportionment and assessment of said tax
among and upon the several cities and towns.” Generally, this has been interpreted that the County is allowed to
retain undesignated fund balance of only 10% of the prior year County tax. Any excess is required to be a reduction
of the county tax assessment or be accounted for in the next year’s budget. On June 30, 2020, the County reported an
undesignated fund balance of $2.4 million. The 2019 County tax was $6.3 million, 10% of which was approximately
$630,000, which required $1.8 million to be utilized in the fiscal year 2021 budget process. Based upon available
information only $890,000 was utilized during the FY2021 budget process, leaving a shortfall of $877,000. In our
professional judgement, the County should evaluate the intent of all statutes and available options as a matter of
budgetary processes.
View of responsible official and planned corrective action:
The County evaluates compliance with Massachusetts laws and regulations as appropriate during the preparation or
amendment of its annual budget.
The County utilizes the undesignated fund balance through the supplementary budget process during each fiscal year
or considers the undesignated fund balance during the budget process for the succeeding fiscal year.
The excess undesignated fund balance during fiscal year 2020 is attributable to the County’s hiring and spending
freeze in light of the COVD-19 pandemic.

**************
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